University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2012

Seasonal variation and the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality in Lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush)

Katelynn Johnson University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Johnson, Katelynn, "Seasonal variation and the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality in Lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush)" (2012). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 287. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/287

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

SEASONAL VARIATION AND THE EFFECTS OF INBREEDING ON SPERM QUALITY IN LAKE TROUT (Salvelinus namaycush)

By

KATELYNN JOHNSON

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through Biological Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2012

© Katelynn Johnson 2012

Seasonal variation and the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality in lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush)

by

Katelynn Johnson

APPROVED BY:

Dr. C. Wilson Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources

Dr. M. Cristescu Great Lakes Institute for Environmental Research

> Dr. D. Higgs Department of Biological Sciences

> Dr. T. Pitcher, Advisor Department of Biological Sciences

> Dr. O. Love, Chair of Defence Department of Biological Sciences

> > 23 May 2012

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP

I hereby declare that this thesis incorporates material that is the result of joint research, as follows: my first data chapter was co-authored with my supervisor, Dr. Trevor Pitcher, and with Dr. Ian Butts and Dr. Chris Wilson. My second data chapter was co-authored with Dr. Trevor Pitcher and Dr. Chris Wilson. My collaborators provided valuable feedback, helped with project design and statistical analyses, and provided editorial input during the writing of each manuscript; however, primary contributions have been by the author. Chapter 2 was prepared as a manuscript, and has been submitted to the North American Journal of Aquaculture for publication. Chapter 3 has also been prepared as a manuscript for future submission to a peer-reviewed journal.

I am aware of the University of Windsor Senate Policy on Authorship and I certify that I have properly acknowledged the contribution of other researchers to my thesis, and have obtained written permission from my co-authors to include the above materials in my thesis.

I certify that, with the above qualification, this thesis, and the research to which it refers, is the product of my own work, completed during my registration as graduate student at the University of Windsor.

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada

iii

Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owners to include such materials in my thesis.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

Inbreeding, the mating between relatives, has been reported to lead to inbreeding depression, which can influence male sperm quality. This thesis examined the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality in a captive population of lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*). First, I investigated seasonal variation in sperm quality (velocity, motility, linearity, longevity and density) across the natural spawning season of the species in order to determine when peak sperm quality occurs. My findings suggest that sperm quality tends to peak throughout the middle of the spawning season. Using this data, I then examined the effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality. I found no significant difference in sperm traits between inbred (full sibling offspring), moderately inbred (maternal and paternal half sibling offspring) and outbred (unrelated offspring) males. Together, these results have implications for the optimization of fertilization protocols in hatchery populations as well as provide insight into experimental inbreeding in lake trout populations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I sincerely thank my research advisor, Dr. Trevor Pitcher, for his tremendous help and support throughout the past 3 years. Thank you for always finding the time to help me with my research, both in the lab and in the field. Also, I thank my graduate committee members, Dr. Melania Cristescu, Dr. Dennis Higgs and Dr. Chris Wilson, for all the helpful comments and suggestions regarding my research. A special thank you to Dr. Ian Butts for help with statistical analyses, comments and suggestions for my first data chapter.

This work was supported by the University of Windsor and by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada in the form of Discovery Grants and Research Tools and Instruments grants to T. Pitcher.

For help with field research, I thank Sara Davidson, Erin Flannery, Mathew Morand, and Jennifer Smith for assisting me throughout my first field season and I thank Ian Butts, Patrick Galvano and Cory Ochs for help throughout my second field season. I would also like to thank Amanda Mamo for her assistance with sperm analyses in the lab.

An enormous thank you to Bill Sloan, Scott Ferguson and Ben Lewis at the Codrington research facility for their help with countless hours of fish collection and sampling. I would like to particularly thank Bill Sloan for always going out of his way to help me during my many trips to the hatchery.

Thank you to all of my lab mates and colleagues, past and present, for making my time here enjoyable: Michelle Farwell, Sara Davidson, Erin Flannery, Jennifer Smith, Ali Mokdad, Patrick Galvano, Craig Black, Adriana Forest and Cory Ochs. Thank you for your suggestions, comments and discussion over the years.

vi

Thank you to my parents, Janet and David, for their continuous encouragement and support over the years. I would also like to thank my brother, Ryan, for his support throughout the entirety of my degree. Thank you to Erin Flannery, Sara Davidson and Michelle Farwell for their continued friendship and good times in lab. Finally I would like to thank Mathew Morand for his continued love and support. Thank you, not only for help during two trips to Codrington, but also for providing mental support throughout my degree and your willingness to always provide suggestions and comments during the writing of this thesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP	.III
ABSTRACT	V
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	.VI
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
INBREEDING DEPRESSION	1
EFFECTS OF INBREEDING DEPRESSION ON SPERM QUALITY	4
LAKE TROUT	5
OVERVIEW OF THE THESIS	8
References	9
CHAPTER 2: SPERM QUALITY OF HATCHERY-REARED LAKE TROUT.	
SALVELINUS NAMAYCUSH THROUGHOUT THE SPAWNING SEASON	. 26
Synopsis	. 26
INTRODUCTION	. 27
Methods	. 28
Broodstock and Sperm Sampling	. 28
SPERM ACTIVITY	. 29
SPERM DENSITY	. 30
Statistical Analyses	. 31
Results	. 32
Motility	. 32
Velocity	. 32
Linearity	. 33
Longevity	. 33
Density	. 33
Correcting for Multiple Tests	. 34
DISCUSSION	. 34
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 38
References	. 39
CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECTS OF INBREEDING ON SPERM QUALITY IN	
LAKE TROUT, SALVELINUS NAMAYCUSH	. 49

REFERENCES	
CONCLUSION	
Chapter Three	
Chapter Two	
SUMMARY	
HAPTER 4: GENERAL DISCUSSION	
REFERENCES	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
DISCUSSION	
RESULTS	
Statistical Analyses	
SPERM CONCENTRATION	
SPERM ACTIVITY	
FISH HUSBANDRY AND SPERM COLLECTION	
CREATION OF FAMILY LINES	
Methods	
INTRODUCTION	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.2 Summary of the existing literature examining seasonal variation in sperm traits (D = density, V = velocity, M = motility L = longevity) throughout the reproductive season in fishes. Shape and direction refer to the pattern of sperm trait variation across the spawning season, where either linear or quadratic equations were fit to sperm data. A linear + (positive) refers to the straightline increase in sperm traits over the season, a linear - (negative) refers to the straightline decrease in sperm traits over the season, a quadratic positive refers to a U-shaped change in sperm sperm traits over the season. Blank spaces represent studies that found more than22one shape or direction of seasonal change in a sperm trait.....

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 The relationship and effect of sampling date on motility (A and B),
velocity (C and D) and linearity (E and F) at 5 (dashed lines) and 10 s (solid lines)
post-activation. Filled circles in plots A, C, and E represent mean individual values
for each of the 16 male lake trout at 5 s post-activation; open circles represent mean
individual values for 10 s post-activation. Means with shared letters in plots B, D,
and F did not differ significantly from one another based on Tukey post-hoc tests...

Figure 3.2 The relationship between sperm velocity (A), percent motility (B) and

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Inbreeding Depression

The genetic diversity of a population is determined by several evolutionary factors including mutation, selection, random drift and migration (Wright, 1977). In addition, the mating system of a population can play a significant role on genetic diversity, both at the individual and population level. Generally, random mating is rare, instead individuals tend to base mating decisions on phenotypic similarities or dissimilarities, a process known as non-random mating (Waser 1993). For the most part, mating between close relatives is typically avoided, however with increased habitat fragmentation and population size decline, the probability of inbreeding increases (Keller & Waller 2002). Typically, inbreeding leads to inbreeding depression, which can be defined as a reduction in fitness (or phenotype value in practical terms) of offspring from matings between related individuals compared to the fitness of offspring from matings between unrelated individuals (Wright 1977). In order to understand the fitness associated costs of inbreeding, it is important to understand the genetic basis underlying inbreeding depression (Charlesworth & Willis 2009). Two hypotheses exist to explain the genetic mechanism of inbreeding depression: the dominance and overdominance hypotheses (Wright 1977). The dominance hypothesis posits that inbreeding results in an increase in homozygosity, which in turn leads to the unmasking of deleterious recessive alleles that reduce fitness (reviewed in Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1999). The overdominance hypothesis states that an increase in homozygosity leads to reductions in

fitness of inbred individuals at loci where heterozygotes had a selective advantage over homozygotes (reviewed in Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1999). Overall, a reduction in fitness is likely a combination of both of these mechanisms, which can be difficult to distinguish when studying inbreeding depression (Keller & Waller 2002).

Inbreeding depression is typically measured by comparing fitness related traits between inbred and outbred groups. Inbreeding levels can be calculated using the inbreeding coefficient, F, which is the probability that two alleles at a single locus will be identical by descent (Wright 1977). In order to calculate inbreeding coefficients, pedigree information is needed, however this is often difficult to obtain, particularly for wild populations. Nevertheless, pedigree construction is possible when studying controlled, laboratory-reared populations and estimates of F, for example in a single generation of full sibling offspring (F=0.25) and half sibling offspring (F=0.125) has become conventional knowledge (Pemberton 2004). A more recent method of measuring inbreeding levels has been to calculate individual heterozygosity using microsatellite markers (reviewed by Coltman & Slate 2003). This method is based on evidence that heterozygosity and fitness are correlated and assumes that individual inbreeding coefficients can be accurately estimated using 10 or more genetic markers (Balloux et al. 2004). Calculating average heterozygosity as a measure of inbreeding has come under recent scrutiny regarding the accuracy with which it can estimate inbreeding depression (Balloux et al. 2004) however, both pedigree and genetic methods present advantages and disadvantages and are both commonly used when studying the effects of inbreeding depression (Keller & Waller 2002). In order to standardize and compare fitness-related

traits affected by inbreeding depression across different species, a measure known as the coefficient of inbreeding depression (δ) can be calculated as follows:

$$\delta = 1 - (X_1 / X_0)$$

where X_1 = inbred trait value and X_o = outbred trait value (adapted from Crnokrak & Roff 1999).

The negative effects of inbreeding depression have been documented across a wide variety of plant and animal species in both captive (Lacy et al. 1993) and wild settings (Crnokrak & Roff 1999; Keller & Waller 2002). Inbreeding depression has been shown to affect all aspects of life history traits from offspring survival to adult reproductive success (Crnokrak & Roff 1999). However, inbreeding depression has been primarily studied in survival-oriented metrics with the majority of research focusing on the effects on juvenile mortality including parasite susceptibility in young seals (Rijks et al. 2008), hatching success in birds (Van Noordwijk & Scharloo 1981) and fry mortality in salmonids (Kincaid 1976). These studies however may underestimate the severity of inbreeding, particularly when it is severe as individuals who express recessive alleles early in development are likely to die off, leaving behind those individuals with increased levels of heterozygosity (Keller & Waller 2002). An individual's fitness is contingent on both their survival to sexual maturity and their reproductive success once sexually mature (Stearns 1992), suggesting a need to also examine reproductive traits as they relate to inbreeding depression. Studies that have focused on reproductive traits have primarily looked at the effects on mating success (Dietz & Baker 1993) and fertility (Johnston 1992). More recently, however, inbreeding depression has been shown to affect fitness in

more cryptic ways, in particular through negative effects on sperm quality (Fitzpatrick & Evans 2009).

Effects of Inbreeding on Sperm Quality

To date, much of the research regarding the effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality, which can be defined as the ability of a male's sperm to successfully fertilize an egg as well as compete with other sperm (Rurangwa et al. 2004) has focused on mammals, while studies on other taxa are rare (Table 1.1). A lack of literature investigating male gamete quality can likely be attributed to the difficulties in measuring sperm quality traits in many species. Nevertheless, studies that have done so have mainly focused on factors such as reductions in sperm concentration (Margulis & Walsh 2002), sperm competitiveness (Zajitschek et al. 2009) and sperm motility (Gomendio et al. 2000) as well as increased sperm abnormalities (Gage et al. 2006). Wildt et al. (1987) reported significant increases in sperm abnormalities, along with decreased sperm motility and concentration in an Asiatic lion (Pantheo leo) population that suffered from decreased genetic variability. Similarly, sperm abnormalities, sperm motility and sperm concentration were all significantly lower in an inbred Florida panther population (Felis concolor coryi) when compared to outbred relatives (Barone et al. 1994). Evidence for inbreeding affecting sperm quality in other taxa has thus far been limited.

It has been suggested that spermatozoa may be more susceptible to the effects of inbreeding depression given the complex nature of spermatogenesis and the high potential for mutational defects (Gage et al. 2006). In species where sperm quality is a

significant determinant of fertilization success (i.e. in fishes), effects of inbreeding depression on such traits ought to be further investigated as sperm quality can significantly contribute to the fitness of an individual. To date, studies that have investigated the effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality in fish are limited. In the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*), both sperm concentration (Zajitschek & Brooks 2010) and sperm competitiveness (Zajitschek et al. 2009) were found to be significantly reduced in inbred compared to outbred males while in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*), male reproductive success (as a result of sperm competitiveness) was lower for inbred compared to outbred males (Fessehaye et al. 2009).

Lake Trout

Lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) are an endemic North American member of the genus *Salvelinus*, also known as charr. Species of this genus are distinguished from other salmonids through a lack of dark spots, teeth on only the anterior portion of the vomer (bone making up the roof of the mouth), small sized scales and preference for cold, deep water (Behnke 2002). Lake trout are the largest of the charr species, occupying many northern North American inland and Great Lakes (Scott & Crossman 1998). The evolution of this species coincides with the Pleistocene glaciations, consequently restricting lake trout to the freshwater, closed-system lakes of their current range (Wilson & Mandrak 2004). As a result of their evolutionary history, lake trout are adapted to live in these low-productivity, glacial refugia lakes with low salinity tolerance and have thus evolved a life history strategy that includes long-lived (20-25 year old life span), latematuring and large individuals (Gunn & Pitblado 2004).

Lake trout are iteroparous spawners, reaching sexual maturity around age 6 or 7 and spawning in the fall anywhere from September to December, depending on the lake (Scott & Crossman 1998). The spawning behaviour of lake trout differs drastically from that of their close relatives. Lake trout do not build nests (redds): rather, they broadcast gametes on open, clean, course gravel substrate (Gunn 1995). Sexual dimorphism is greatly reduced relative to other salmonids, and direct male-male competition appears to be absent (Martin & Oliver 1980). These differences can be attributed to the lake trout's propensity to spawn at night, another unique characteristic uncommon in other salmonids (Gunn 1995). Esteve et al. (2008) described lake trout spawning behaviour where multiple males were observed spawning with a single female. Instead of building nests, females of this species are known to swim around the spawning grounds accompanied by multiple males. Spawning initiates when both the female and nearby males begin to quiver, discontinue swimming and drop to the bottom of the lake. Here, gamete release occurs with both sexes raising their tails, quivering and gaping their jaws. As in all species of *Salvelinus*, spawning is very brief in lake trout, lasting only 1-2 seconds (Esteve et al. 2008). Eggs then develop with no parental care in the crevices of the rocky lake bottom for up to 4-5 months, eventually hatching in the spring (Scott & Crossman 1998). As lake trout spawning behaviour differs drastically from other salmonids, where mating success is highly dependent on sexual dimorphism as well as both male and female aggressive interactions (Fleming & Reynolds 2004), it may be possible that sexual selection in lake trout has shifted to the gametic level.

Over the past half-century, lake trout populations have drastically declined from their once abundant sizes. Declines in the Great Lakes have primarily been attributed to

overfishing and predation by the invasive sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marianus*) (Walters et al. 1980). Additional sources of decline in the Great Lakes and inland waters include contamination and eutrophication of lakes, habitat restructuring, and the stocking of domestic lake trout strains (Gunn & Pitblado 2004). The long-lived and late maturing nature of lake trout makes this species further susceptible to these threats (Gunn & Pitblado 2004). As lake trout are an important species both commercially and economically, re-stocking and rehabilitation programs have been set up to restore population abundances (Piller et al. 2005). Although these programs have been somewhat successful in restoring population numbers, previous lake trout abundance across the Great Lakes will likely never be achieved.

The evolution, unique life history strategy and recent population declines makes the study of inbreeding depression on sperm quality an important issue in lake trout, particularly in inland lake populations. Habitat isolation along with declining population size is a common cause of inbreeding and consequently inbreeding depression in many populations (Keller & Waller 2002). In lake trout, both low genetic diversity of isolated populations (Ihssen et al. 1988) and previous population declines make inbreeding a probable occurrence in this species. Furthermore, effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality have recently been reported for a number of species, including fish (Table 1.1). Given that gamete quality is likely an important factor in the mating success of lake trout, sperm quality may be highly susceptible to the effects of inbreeding depression.

Overview of the Thesis

The objective of my thesis was to investigate the effects of seasonal variation and inbreeding depression on sperm quality in a captively bred population of lake trout. Chapter Two examines the variation in sperm quality metrics (motility, velocity, linearity, longevity, and density) throughout the natural spawning season of lake trout by using both a repeated measures and regression approach. Sperm quality in both wild and captive fish populations have been shown to significantly vary throughout the reproductive season (Table 1.2), with no obvious pattern for a particular species. Variability in such studies highlights the importance of understanding when optimal sperm quality occurs from both an aquaculture standpoint, for the optimization of fertilization protocols as well as from a theoretical standpoint, in order to optimize sperm quality when studying external factors that may be affecting it (i.e. inbreeding depression). Using sperm obtained during the peak spawning season, as determined in Chapter Two, I then tested the inbreeding depression hypothesis by investigating the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality in Chapter Three. This experiment was conducted using experimentally inbred (full sibling offspring, maternal half sibling offspring, paternal half sibling offspring) and outbred (unrelated offspring) groups of male lake trout. Overall, this thesis has implications for improving our understanding of the reproductive biology for an important commercial and economic coldwater salmonid species.

References

Aas, G.H., Refstie, T., Gjerde, B. (1991) Evaluation of milt quality of Atlantic salmon. Aquaculture, 95, 125-132

Agarwal, N.K., Raghuvanshi, S.K. (2009) Spermatocrit and sperm density in snowtrout (*Schizothorax richardsonii*): Correlation and variation during the breeding season. *Aquaculture*, **291**, 61-64

- Alavi, S.M.H., Psenicka, M., Rodina, M., Policar, T., Linhart, O. (2008) Changes in sperm morphology, volume, density and motility and seminal plasma composition in *Barbus barbus* (Teleostei: Cyprinidae) during the reproductive season. *Aquatic Living Resources*, 21, 75-80
- Alavi, S.M.H., Rodina, M., Hatef, A., Stejskal, V., Policar, T., Hamáčková, J., Linhart,
 O. (2010) Sperm motility and monthly variations of semen characteristics in *Perca fluviatilis* (Teleostei: Percidae). *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 55, 174-182
- Asa, C., Miller, P., Agnew, M., Rebolledo, J.A.R., Lindsey, S.L., Callahan, M., Bauman,
 K. (2007) Relationship of inbreeding with sperm quality and reproductive success
 in Mexican gray wolves. *Animal Conservation*, **10**, 326-331
- Babiak, I., Ottesen, O., Rudolfsen, G., Johnsen, S. (2006) Quantitative characteristics of Atlantic halibut, *Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L., semen throughout the reproductive season. *Theriogenology*, 65, 1587-1604
- Balloux, F., Amos, W., Coulson, T. (2004) Does heterozygosity estimate inbreeding in real populations? *Molecular Ecology*, **13**, 3021-3031

Barone, M.A., Roelke, M.E., Howard, J., Brown, L.J., Anderson, A.E., Wildt, D.E.
(1994) Reproductive characteristics of male Florida panthers: comparative studies from Florida, Texas, Colorado, Latin America, and North American zoos. *American Society of Mammalogists*, **75** 150-162

- Behnke, R.J. (2002) Trout and Salmon of North America (ed. G. Scott). p. 267-290. New York: The Free Press.
- Beirão, J., Soares, F., Herráez, M.P., Dinis, M.T., Cabrita, E. (2011) Changes in *Solea* senegalensis sperm quality throughout the year. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 126, 122-129
- Butts, I.A.E., Litvak, M.K., Trippel, E.A. (2010) Seasonal variations in seminal plasma and sperm characteristics of wild-caught and cultivated Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. *Theriogenology*, **73**, 873-885
- Büyükhatipoylu, S., Holt, W. (1984) Sperm output in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*)effect of age, timing and frequency of stripping and presence of females. *Aquaculture*, **37**, 63-71
- Casallas-Cruz, P.E., Robles-Medina, V.M., Velasco-Santamaría, Y.M. (2007) Seasonal variation of sperm quality and the relationship between spermatocrit and sperm concentration in Yamú *Brycon amazonicus*. *North American Journal of Aquaculture*, **69**, 159-165
- Charlesworth, D., Charlesworth, B. (1999) The genetic basis of inbreeding depression. *Genetics Research*, **74**, 329-340
- Charlesworth, D., Willis, J.H. (2009) The genetics of inbreeding depression. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, **10**, 783-796

- Coltman, D.W., Slate, J. (2003) Microsatellite measures of inbreeding: a meta-analysis. *Evolution*, **57**, 971-983
- Crnokrak, P., Roff, D.A. (1999) Inbreeding depression in the wild. Heredity, 83, 260-270
- Dietz, J.M., Baker, A.J. (1993) Polygyny and female reproductive success in golden lion tamarins, *Leontopithecus rosalia*. *Animal Behavior*, **46**, 1067-1078
- Esteve, M., McLennan, D.A., Gunn, J.M. (2008) Lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) spawning behaviour: the evolution of a new female strategy. *Environmental Bioogy of Fishes*, **83**, 69-76
- Fessehaye, Y., Bovenhuis, H., Rezk, M.A., Crooijmans, R., van Arendonk, J.A.M., Komen, H. (2009) Effects of relatedness and inbreeding on reproductive success of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Aquaculture*, **294**, 180-186
- Fitzpatrick, J.L., Evans, J.P. (2009) Reduced heterozygosity impairs sperm quality in endangered mammals. *Biology Letters*, **5**, 320-323
- Fleming, I.A., Reynolds, J.D. (2004). Salmonid Breeding Systems. In Evolution
 Illuminated: Salmon and Their Relatives (eds. A.P. Hendry, S.C. Stearns). p. 264294. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Fritzsche, P., Neumann, K., Nasdal, K., Gattermann, R. (2006) Differences in reproductive success between laboratory and wild-derived golden hamster (*Mesocricetus auratus*) as a consequence of inbreeding. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 60, 220-226

- Gage, M.J.G., Surridge, A.K., Tomkins, J.L., Green, E., Wiskin L., Bell D.J., Hewitt,G.M. (2006) Reduced heterozygosity depresses sperm quality in wild rabbits,*Oryctolagus cuniculus. Current Biology*, 16, 612-617
- Gomendio, M., Cassinello, J., Roldan, E.R.S. (2000) A comparative study of ejaculate traits in three endangered ungulates with different levels of inbreeding: fluctuating asymmetry as an indicator of reproductive and genetic stress. *Proceeding of the Royal Society of London*, Series B, **267** 875-882
- Gunn, J.M. (1995) Spawning behavior of lake trout: effects on colonization ability.*Journal of Great Lakes Research*, **21** (Supplement 1), 323-329
- Gunn, J.M., Pitblado, R. (2004) Lake trout, the Boreal Shield, and the factors that shape lake trout ecosystems. In Boreal Shield Watersheds: Lake Trout Ecosystems in a Changing Environment (eds. J. Gunn, R. Steedman, R. Ryder). p. 3-19. Florida: CRC Press.
- Hajirezaee, S., Amiri, B.M., Mirvaghefi, A.R. (2010) Changes in sperm production,
 sperm motility, and composition of seminal fluid in Caspian brown trout, *Salmo trutta caspius*, over the course of a spawning season. *Journal of Applied Aquaculture*, 22, 157-170
- Hughes, K.A. (1997) Quantitative genetics of sperm precedence in *Drosophila* melanogaster. Genetics, 145, 139-151
- Ihssen, P.E., Casselman, J.M., Martin, G.W., Phillips, R.B. (1988) Biochemical genetic differentiation of lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) stocks of the Great Lakes region. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **45**, 1018-1029

- Johnston, M.O. (1992) Effects of cross and self-fertilization on progeny fitness in *Lobelia cardinalis* and L. *siphilitica*. *Evolution*, **46**, 688-702
- Keller, L.F., Waller, D.M. (2002) Inbreeding effects in wild populations. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **17**, 230-241
- Kincaid, H.L. (1976) Inbreeding in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, **33**, 2420-2426
- Konior, M., Keller, L., Radwan, J. (2005) Effect of inbreeding and heritability of sperm competition success in the bulb mite *Rhizoglyphus robini*. *Herediy*, **94**, 577-581
- Lacy, R.C., Petric, A., Warneke, M. (1993) *Inbreeding and outbreeding in captive populations of wild animals*. In: The Natural History of Inbreeding and Outbreeding: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives (ed. N.W. Thornhill). p. 352-374. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Lanes, C.F.C., Okamoto, M.H., Bianchini, A., Marins, L.F., Sampaio, L.A. (2010) Sperm quality of Brazilian flounder *Paralichthys orbignyanus* throughout the reproductive season. *Aquaculture Research*, **41**,199-207
- Mack, P.D., Hammock, B.A., Promislow, D.E.L. (2002) Sperm competitive ability and genetic relatedness in *Drosophila melanogaster*: similarity breeds contempt. *Evolution*, 56, 1789-1795
- Malo, A.F., Martinez-Pastor, F., Alaks, G., Dubach, J., Lacy, R.C. (2010) Effects of genetic captive-breeding protocols on sperm quality and fertility in the whitefooted mouse. *Biology of Reproduction*, **85**, 540-548

Margulis, W.S., Walsh, A. (2002) The effects of inbreeding on testicular sperm concentration in *Peromyscus polionotus*. *Reproduction, Fertility, and Development*, 14, 63-67

- Martin, N.V., Oliver, C.H. (1980) *The lake charr, Salvelinus namaycush*. In Charrs, Salmonid fisheries of the genus *Salvelinus* (eds. E.K. Balon), p. 205-277. The Hague: Dr. W. Junk
- Maximini, L., Fuerst-Waltl, B., Gredler, B., Baumung, R. (2011) Inbreeding depression on semen quality in Austrian dual-purpose Simmental bulls. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals*, 46, 102-104
- Michalczyk, L., Martin, O.Y., Millard, A.L., Emerson, B.C., Gage, M.J.G. (2010)
 Inbreeding depresses sperm competitiveness, but not fertilization or mating success in male *Tribolium castaneum*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, Series B, 277, 3483-3491
- Munkittrick, K.R., Moccia, R.D. (1987) Seasonal changes in the quality of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) semen: effect of a delay in stripping on spermatocrit, motility, volume and seminal plasma constituents. *Aquaculture*, **64**, 147-156
- Mylonas, C.C., Papadaki, M., Divanach, P. (2003) Seasonal changes in sperm production and quality in the red porgy *Pagrus pagrus* (L.). *Aquaculture Research*, **34**, 1161-1170
- Papadaki, M., Papadopoulou, M., Siggelaki, I., Mylonas, C.C. (2008) Egg and sperm production and quality of sharpsnout sea bream (*Diplodus putazzo*) in captivity. *Aquaculture*, **276**, 187-197

- Pemberton, J. (2004) Measuring inbreeding depression in the wild: the old ways are the best. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **19**, 613-615
- Piironen, J. (1985) Variation in the properties of milt from the Finnish landlocked salmon (Salmo salar M. Sebago Girard) during a spawning season. Aquaculture, 48, 337-350
- Piller, K. R., Wilson, C.C., Lee, C.E., Lyons, J. (2005) Conservation genetics of inland lake trout in the upper Mississippi River basin: stocked or native ancestry? *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, **134**, 789-802
- Rakitin, A., Ferguson, M.M., Trippel, E.A. (1999) Spermatocrit and spermatozoa density in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): correlation and variation during the spawning season. *Aquaculture*, **170**, 349-358
- Rideout, R.M., Trippel, E.E., Litvak, M.K. (2004) Relationship between sperm density, spermatocrit, sperm motility and spawning date in wild and cultured haddock. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **65**, 319-332
- Rijks, J.M., Hoffman, J.I., Kuiken, T., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Amos, W. (2008)
 Heterozygosity and lungworm burden in harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*). *Heredity*, 100, 587-593
- Rouxel, C., Suquet, M., Cosson, J., Severe, A., Quemener, L., Fauvel, C. (2008) Changes in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) sperm quality during the spawning season. *Aquaculture Research*, **39**, 434-440
- Rurangwa, E., Kime, D.E., Ollevier, F., Nash, J.P. (2004) The measurment of sperm motility and factors affecting sperm quality in cultured fish. *Aquaculture*, 234, 1-28

- Scott, W.B., Crossman, E.J. (1998) Freshwater Fishes of Canada. Ontario: Galt House Publications Ltd.
- Suquet, M., Dreanno, C., Dorange, G., Normant, Y., Quemener, L., Gaignon, J.L., Billard, R. (1998) The ageing phenomenon of turbot spermatozoa: effects on morphology, motility, and concentration, intracellular ATP content, fertilization, and storage capacities. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **52**, 31-41
- van Eldik, P., van der Waaij, E.H., Ducro, B., Kooper, A.W., Stout, E.A.T.,
 Colenbrander, B. (2006) Possible negative effects of inbreeding on semen quality
 in Shetland pony stallions. *Theriogenology*, 65, 1159-1170
- Van Noordwijk, A.J., Scharloo, W. (1981) Inbreeding in an island population of the great tit. *Evolution*, **35**, 674-688
- Walters, C.J., Steer, G., Spangler, G. (1980) Responses of lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) to harvesting, stocking, and lamprey reduction. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 37, 2133-2145
- Wang, Z., Crim, L.W. (1997) Seasonal changes in the biochemistry of seminal plasma and sperm motility in the ocean pout, *Macrozoarces americanus*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 16, 77-83
- Waser, N.M. (1993) Sex, Mating Systems, Inbreeding, and Outbreeding. In: The Natural History of Inbreeding and Outbreeding (ed. N.W. Thornhill). p. 1-13 Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

- Weeks, S.C., Reed, S.K., Ott, D.W., Scanabissi, F. (2009) Inbreeding effects on sperm production in clam shrimp (*Eulimnadia texana*). *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 11, 125-134
- Wildt, D.E., Baas, E.J., Chakraborty, P.K., Wolfe, T.L., Stewart, A.P. (1982) Influence of inbreeding on reproductive performance, ejaculate quality and testicular volume in the dog. *Theriogenology*, **17**, 445-452
- Wildt, D.E., Bush, M., Goodrowe, K.L., Packer, C., Pusey, A.E., Brown, J.L., Joslin, P., O'Brien, S.J. (1987) Reproductive and genetic consequences of founding isolated lion populations. *Nature*, **329**, 328-331
- Wildt, D.E., Bush, M., Howard, J.G., O'Brien, S.J., Meltzer, D., Van Dyk, A., Ebedes,
 H., Brand, D.J. (1983) Unique seminal quality in the South African cheetah and a comparative evaluation in the domestic cat. *Biology of Reproduction*, 29, 1019-1025
- Wilson, C.C., Mandrak N. (2004) History and evolution of lake trout in Shield lakes: past and future challenges. In Boreal Shield Watersheds: Lake Trout Ecosystems in a Changing Environment (eds. J. Gunn, R. Steedman, R. Ryder). p. 21-35. Florida: CRC Press.
- Wright, S. (1977) Evolution and the Genetics of Populations, vol.3, Experimental Results and Evolutionary Deductions. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Zajitschek, S.R.K., Brooks, R.C. (2010) Inbreeding depression in male traits and preference for outbred males in *Poecilia reticulata*. *Behavioral Ecology*, **21**, 884-891

Zajitschek, S.R.K., Lindholm, A.K., Evans, J.P., Brooks, R.C. (2009) Experimental evidence that high levels of inbreeding depress sperm competitiveness. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **22**, 1338-1345 **Table 1.1** Summary of the literature examining the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality (morphology, percent motility, concentration, velocity, and competitiveness). A negative sign (-) indicates the sperm trait significantly decreased as a result of inbreeding: brackets after a negative sign represent δ (coefficient of inbreeding depression), which was measured as [1- (mean inbred trait value/mean outbred trait value)], wherever means were provided. A zero (0) indicates no significant difference between the sperm trait and inbreeding. Blank spaces indicate that the sperm trait was not measured. Sperm traits were compared between inbred and outbred groups. Morphology is the percentage of abnormal sperm, % motility is the percentage of motile compared to non motile sperm cells, concentration is the number of sperm cells in a given sperm sample, velocity is the speed at which a sperm cell moves per distance traveled and competitiveness is the percentage of offspring sired by inbred compared to outbred sperm.

Common	Genus	Measure of		Sperm trait				
Name	species	inbreeding						
			Morphology	% Motility	Concentration	Velocity	Competitiveness	
Mammals								
Bull	Bos taurus	Pedigree	0	-	0			1
Dog	Canis familiaris	Pedigree		0	- (0.86)			2
Florida panther	Felis concolor	Average heterozygosity	- (0.70)	- (0.40)	- (0.72)			3

Gazelles	Gazella cuvieri	Pedigree	-	-				4
Golden hamsters	Mesocricetus auratus	Average heterozygosity		0	0	0	- (0.87)	5
Asiatic Lion	Panthera leo	Average heterozygosity	-	- (0.30)	- (0.56)			6
Mexican gray wolves	Canis lupus	Pedigree	-	-				7
Oldfield mice	Peromyscus polionotus	Pedigree			- (0.10)			8
Shetland ponies	Equus caballus var.	Pedigree	- (0.22)	- (0.07)	0			9
South African Cheetah	Acinonyx jubatus	Average heterozygosity	-	-	-			10
White-footed mice	Peromyscus leucopus	Pedigree	0	-				11
Wild rabbits	Oryctoloagus cuniculus	Average heterozygosity	-					12
Fishes								
Guppy	Poecilia reticulata	Pedigree			-		-	13,14

Nile tilapia	Oreochromis niloticus	Pedigree			-	15
Crustaceans						
Clam shrimp	Eulimnadia texana	Pedigree	- (0.52)			16
Insects						
Bulb mite	Rhizoglyphus robini	Pedigree			- (0.53)	17
Flour beetle	Tribolium castaneum	Pedigree			- (0.26)	18
Fruit fly	Drosophila melanogaster	Pedigree			- (0.25), (0.19)	19, 20

*1 (Maximini et al. 2011), 2 (Wildt et al. 1982), 3 (Barone et al. 1994), 4 (Gomendio et al. 2000), 5 (Fritzsche et al. 2006), 6 (Wildt et al. 1987), 7 (Asa et al. 2007), 8 (Margulis & Walsh 2002), 9 (van Eldik et al. 2006), 10 (Wildt et al. 1983), 11 (Malo et al. 2010), 12 (Gage et al. 2006), 13 (Zajitschek & Brooks 2009), 14 (Zajitschek et al. 2009), 15 (Fessehaye et al. 2009), 16 (Weeks et al. 2009), 17 (Konior et al. 2005), 18 (Michalczyk et al. 2010), 19 (Hughes 1997), 20 (Mack et al. 2002)

Table 1.2 Summary of the existing literature examining seasonal variation in sperm traits (D = density, V = velocity, M = motility L = longevity) throughout the reproductive season in fishes. Shape and direction refer to the pattern of sperm trait variation across the spawning season, where either linear or quadratic equations were fit to sperm data. A linear + (positive) refers to the straightline increase in sperm traits over the season, a linear - (negative) refers to the straightline decrease in sperm traits over the season, a linear - (negative) refers to the straightline decrease in sperm traits over the season, a sperm traits over the season and a quadratic negative refers to a bell-shaped change in a sperm traits over the season. Blank spaces represent studies that found more than one shape or direction of seasonal change in a sperm trait.

Common Name	Genus species	Sperm trait	Shape	Direction	Reference
Atlantic cod	Gadus morhua	D, V, L	Linear	+	Butts et al. 2010
Atlantic cod	Gadus morhua	D	Linear	+	Rakitin et al. 1999
Atlantic cod	Gadus morhua	D, V	Quadratic	-	Rouxel et al. 2008
Atlantic halibut	Hippoglossus hippoglossus	D	Linear	+	Babiak et al. 2006
		V, M	Linear	_	
		L	Quadratic	-	
--------------------	--------------------------	------	-----------	---	------------------------
Atlantic salmon	Salmo salar	D	Linear	-	Aas et al. 1991
Atlantic salmon	Salmo salar	D	Linear	+	Piironen 1985
Barbel	Barbus barbus	D	Linear	-	Alavi et al. 2008
		V	Quadratic	-	
Brazilian flounder	Paralichthys orbignyanus	D	Quadratic	+	Lanes et al. 2010
		L	Linear	+	
Brown trout	Salmo trutta	D	Linear	-	Hajirezaee et al. 2010
Haddock	Melanogrammus aeglefinus	D	Linear	+	Rideout et al. 2004
European perch	Perca fluviatilis	D, V	Linear	-	Alavi et al. 2010

Ocean pout	Zoarces americanus	М	Quadratic	-	Wang & Crim 1997
Rainbow trout	Oncorhynchus mykiss	D	Linear	-	Büyükhatipoglu & Holtz 1984
		M, L	Quadratic	-	
Rainbow trout	Oncorhynchus mykiss	D, M	Linear	-	Munkittrick & Moccia 1987
Red porgy	Pagrus pagrus	D, M	Linear	+	Mylonas et al. 2003
		L	Quadratic	-	
Senegalese sole	Solea senegalensis	М	Linear	-	Beirão et al., 2011
Sharpsnout seabream	Diplodus puntazzo	D, L	Quadratic	-	Papadaki et al. 2008
Snow trout	Schizothorax richardsonii	D	Linear	-	Agarwal & Raghuvanshi 2009
Turbot	Scophthalmus maximus	D	Linear	+	Suquet et al. 1998

		М	Linear	-	
Yamú	Brycon amazonicus	D	Quadratic	-	Cruz-Casallas et al. 2007

CHAPTER 2: SPERM QUALITY OF HATCHERY-REARED LAKE TROUT, SALVELINUS NAMAYCUSH THROUGHOUT THE SPAWNING SEASON¹

Synopsis

The objective of this study was to investigate variation in sperm quality metrics (motility, velocity, linearity, longevity, and density) of hatchery-reared lake trout Salvelinus namaycush throughout the spawning season. Seasonal variation in sperm quality was investigated using both a regression and repeated-measures approach. Sperm was collected from the same 16 individuals over four sampling periods, separated by threeweek intervals. Regression analyses showed that 7 to 27% of the variation in sperm traits could be explained by seasonal variation, indicating that seasonality can have a significant impact on the quality of sperm. Significant positive linear relationships were found for percent motility and linearity at 5 s post-activation. Significant negative quadratic relationships were found for velocity at 5 s post-activation, longevity and density, while a positive quadratic relationship was found for linearity at 10 s postactivation. Repeated measures ANOVAs showed a significant effect of season for percent motility and linearity at 5 and 10 s post-activation, velocity at 10 s post-activation and longevity. The present study is important for optimizing fertilization protocols for hatchery production and can also be used to understand reproductive biology and ecology of wild lake trout stocks.

¹ This chapter is the product of joint research with Dr. Trevor Pitcher, Dr. Ian Butts and Dr. Chris Wilson

Introduction

Lake trout *Salvelinus namaycush* have historically been a significant commercial and economic species important to North American inland lakes and the Great Lakes (Behnke 2002). Over the past half-century, declines in a number of populations largely owing to sea lamprey *Petromyzon marinus* predation and overfishing (Jensen 1994; Walters et al. 1980), have resulted in the establishment of re-stocking and rehabilitation programs (Piller et al. 2005). Although captive breeding of this species has occurred for several decades, remnant populations remain in only some of the Great Lakes, including Lake Huron and Lake Superior (Guinand et al. 2003). Today, hatchery populations are used primarily to stock lakes in need of rehabilitation (Evans & Willox 1991). As restoration efforts have become increasingly relevant, investigating gamete quality under a captive environment is important for the successful propagation of this species.

Sperm quality, which includes measures of sperm motility, velocity, longevity and density, are considered the primary determinants of fertilization success (Casselman et al. 2006; Tuset et al. 2007). Essentially, these sperm quality indices can be used to optimize fertilization protocols, which become important for producing large numbers of progeny from a limited number of eggs. Sperm quality has been found to be highly dependent on season (Babiak et al. 2006; Billard 1986; Munkittrick & Moccia 1987). For example, in Atlantic halibut *Hippoglossus hippoglossus*, sperm density, percentage of motile cells, velocity and linearity were found to vary significantly throughout the course of the spawning season (Babiak et al. 2006). The most common pattern of seasonal change in sperm quality across species is linear or quadratic. Linear patterns generally increase or decrease steadily throughout the spawning season (e.g. Butts et al. 2010),

whereas quadratic patterns generally represent bell-shaped curves in which sperm quality increases at the start of the season, peaks during the middle, and decreases towards the end of the season (e.g. Papadaki et al. 2008). It is therefore important to optimize reproductive protocols to reflect the natural biology of propagated species.

An understanding of seasonal changes in sperm quality can be used to optimize fertilization success for hatchery production (Suquet et al. 1998), improve gamete storage techniques (Rideout et al. 2004), increase the efficiency of selective breeding programs (Butts et al. 2010), and assess the impacts of sperm aging (Alavi et al. 2008). In this study, I assessed variation in sperm quality of hatchery-reared lake trout over a twomonth interval that spanned the natural spawning season.

Methods

Broodstock and Sperm Sampling

Variations in sperm quality traits were assessed for seven-year old hatcheryreared lake trout from the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources Codrington Fisheries Research Facility, located in Codrington, Ontario (Latitude: 44.1468; Longitude: -77.8045). Fish originated from wild spawn collections in 1983 (two generations earlier), from native lake trout populations in two interconnected lakes in Haliburton, Ontario (Clean and Macdonald Lake, Latitude: 45.2501, Longitude: -78.5329). All fish were housed in two 20ft x 5ft fiberglass raceway tanks (working depth of 26 in) fed by untreated water from a local stream source and were kept under a natural photoperiod and temperature regime. Fish were fed AquaBrood feed (7.5 mm pellet; Corey Nutrition Company, Fredericton, NB, Canada) at 0.5% body weight per day. At three-week intervals in 2010 (October 28, November 16, December 7 and December 27) milt was collected from the same 16 individuals in the context of a repeated measures experimental design. The mean \pm SEM total length and weight of the broodstock at the onset of spawning were 582.94 \pm 6.73 mm and 1894.12 \pm 79.22 g, respectively. Fish were anaesthetized using 40 to 50 ppm solution of MS-222 (Syndel International, Vancouver, BC, Canada). Milt samples were collected, using slight pressure to the abdomen and massaging towards the urogenital pore, in 532 mL Whirl-Pak[®] plastic bags (Nasco, Newmarket, ON, Canada) and stored in a cooler. Extra care was taken to ensure that urine, feces, blood or water did not contaminate the milt samples.

Sperm Activity

Sperm were video-recorded using a CCD black and white video camera (XC-ST50, Sony, Japan) module at 50 Hz vertical frequency, mounted on an external-phase contrast microscope (CX41 Olympus, Melville, NY, USA) with a 10× negative-phase magnification objective (Pitcher et al. 2009). Sperm metrics (motility, velocity, longevity and linearity) were assessed by activating an aliquot (< 0.2 μ L) of milt with 10 μ L of stream water. A bionomic controller (model BC-110) and heat exchanger (model HEC-400, 20/20 Technology Inc., Wilmington, NC, USA) were used to maintain water temperature at 8.6 ± 0.1°C (the temperature of the activation water during the first sampling date). Once recordings were taken, sperm traits were analyzed using the HTM-CEROS sperm analysis system (version 12, CEROS, Hamilton Thorne Biosciences, Beverly MA, USA) set at the following parameters: number of frames = 60, minimum contrast = 11, photometer = 55-65, minimum cell size = 3 pixels. Sperm motility,

velocity, and linearity were analyzed at 5 and 10 s post-activation. In salmonids, it has been shown that 80% of fertilizations occur within the first 5 seconds of sperm activation along with the closing of the micropyle occurring shortly thereafter (Hoysak & Liley 2001), therefore examining sperm at a post activation time of both 5 and 10 seconds was the most biologically relevant as it corresponds to conditions found in the wild. Sperm motility was calculated as the percentage of motile cells divided by the total number of cells. Sperm velocity was measured as the average velocity measured over the actual point-to-track followed by the cell. Sperm path linearity was measured as the departure of the cell track from a straight line. Linearity is the straightness with which a sperm cell moves per unit of distance traveled. Straighter swimming sperm will have a larger linearity value. Longevity was estimated as the time for ~95% of the sperm cells to become immotile (Gage et al. 2004). For each male, the mean value of all sperm cells per each activation was used for statistical analysis.

Sperm Density

Sperm density was estimated by adding 1.5 μ L of milt to 500 μ L of Cortland's saline solution (7.25 g/L NaCl; 0.38 g/L KCl; 0.47 g/L MgSO₄: 7H₂O; 0.4 g/L Na₂HPO₄: H₂O; 1.0 g/L NaHCO₃; 0.22 g/L MgCl₂; 1.0 g/L C₆H₁₂O₆) to prevent activation. The sperm suspension was then gently mixed using a wide-bore transfer pipette and 10 μ L was loaded onto a Neubauer-improved haemocytometer. Sperm cells were counted in 5 of the 25 (1 mm²) squares on the haemocytometer (4 corner squares and 1 middle square). Sperm density was then estimated by taking the mean number of sperm cells in the 5 squares, multiplying by 25, and then finally by 10 (the depth of each chamber in the

haemocytometer). This number was then multiplied by the initial volume of the sample to obtain the total number of sperm cells in 1 mL of milt (Pitcher et al. 2009).

Statistical Analyses

To examine sperm quality of lake trout throughout the spawning season I used two statistical approaches. In the first approach, I examined seasonal variation in sperm motility, velocity, linearity, longevity and density by fitting either linear or quadratic equations to the data (PROC REG; SAS Institute, 2003). This allowed me to create predictive models to explore the shape (positive or negative) of seasonal variation. Linear and quadratic equations were chosen *a priori* to fit the data based on the available literature (e.g. Butts et al. 2010; Lahnsteiner et al. 1996, 1998). Final equation selection (linear or quadratic) was based on an *F*-statistic: $df_j \times (r_j^2 - r_i^2)/(1 - r_j^2)$ where: r_i^2 is the r^2 for the i_{th} order; r_j^2 is the r^2 for the next higher order; df_j is the degrees of freedom for the higher-order equation with *j* degrees of freedom in the numerator and $df_j = n-j-1$ degrees of freedom in the denominator (McDonald 2009).

In the second approach I analyzed the data using a series of repeated measures mixed-model ANOVAs (PROC MIXED; SAS Institute 2003). By using this approach I was able to determine how the four sampling periods differed throughout the spawning season (i.e. Oct 28 vs. Dec 7). Repeated measures mixed-model ANOVAs, for sperm related variables, were run at each post-activation time. Akaike's (AIC) and Bayesian (BIC) information criteria were used to assess which co-variance structure (compound symmetry, autoregressive order, or unstructured) was most appropriate (Littell et al. 1996). Sampling date was considered fixed whereas male identity was considered random and included as the subject in the repeated statement. Tukey post-hoc analyses were used to compare least square means between treatments.

All data were analyzed using SAS statistical software (version 9.1; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Residuals were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test and homogeneity of variances were tested using plot of residuals vs. fit values. Sperm velocity, density, and longevity were log_{10} transformed while sperm motility and linearity were arcsine square root transformed when data deviated from normality and homoscedasticity (Zar 1996). Data were expressed as mean ± SEM.

Results

Motility

There was a significant positive linear relationship between sampling date and sperm motility at 5 s post-activation ($r^2 = 0.18$, $F_{1,63} = 14.0$, P < 0.001, y = 8.34x + 39.28), however there was no significant relationship at 10 s post-activation ($r^2 = 0.07$, $F_{2,63} = 2.5$, P = 0.09, $y = 21.51x + 3.41x^2 + 17.32$) (Figure 2.1a). Sampling date had a significant effect on sperm motility at 5 ($F_{3,35.1} = 6.43$, P = 0.0014) and 10 s post-activation ($F_{3,33.6} = 7.82$, P = 0.0004) (Figure 2.1b).

Velocity

There was a significant negative quadratic relationship between sampling date and sperm velocity at 5 s post-activation ($r^2 = 0.10$, $F_{2,63} = 3.23$, P = 0.046, $y = 40.93x - 8.27x^2 + 70.0$) and a marginally significant negative quadratic relationship at 10 s post-activation ($r^2 = 0.09$, $F_{2,63} = 3.05$, P = 0.05, $y = 23.64x - 4.88x^2 + 49.73$) (Figure 2.1c).

Sampling date had a significant effect on sperm velocity at 10 s post-activation ($F_{3,32.9} = 3.81, P = 0.02$), but not at 5 s post-activation ($F_{3,44.9} = 2.04, P = 0.12$ (Figure 2.1d).

Linearity

There was a significant positive linear relationship between sampling date and sperm path linearity at 5 s post-activation ($r^2 = 0.27$, $F = 22.99_{1,63}$, P < 0.0001, y = 6.77x + 44.56), while a significant positive quadratic relationship was found at 10 s postactivation ($r^2 = 0.21$, $F = 8.31_{2,63}$, P < 0.001, $y = -18.75x + 4.55x^2 + 79.92$) (Figure 2.1e). Sampling date had a significant effect on sperm path linearity at 5 ($F = 11.2_{3,34.1}$, P < 0.0001) and 10 ($F = 9.2_{3,33.4}$, P = 0.001) s post-activation (Figure 2.1f).

Longevity

A significant negative quadratic relationship was found between sampling date and sperm longevity ($r^2 = 0.13$, $F_{2,63} = 4.40$, P = 0.02, $y = 7.30x - 1.69x^2 + 17.66$) (Figure 2.2a). Running the ANOVA showed that sampling date had a significant effect on sperm longevity ($F_{3,35} = 3.2$, P = 0.036) (Figure 2.2b).

Density

There was a significant negative quadratic relationship between sampling date and sperm density ($r^2 = 0.12$, $F_{2,63} = 4.10$, P = 0.02, $y = 1.00x - 0.18x^2 + 0.13$) (Figure 2.2c). Sampling date had a marginally significant effect on sperm density ($F_{3,35.7} = 2.8$, P = 0.05) (Figure 2.2d).

Correcting for Multiple Tests

Using a conservative Bonferroni correction for multiple tests, I divided the alpha value (0.05) by the number of tests (n=5) per grouping (5 and 10 seconds post-activation for both linear and quadratic equations) thus rendering the new alpha value 0.01. In this case, 4 of the significant results would become non-significant for the different groupings. However, Nakagawa (2004) points out that the use of Bonferroni corrections reduces statistical power, thus increasing type II errors, which may lead to bias in data interpretation.

Discussion

Quantifying sperm quality throughout the spawning season is important for estimating a stock's reproductive potential (Trippel 1999, 2003), timing of optimal fertilization for hatchery production (Rana 1995) and improvement of short-term and long-term storage (cryopreservation) techniques for many captivity-bred and endangered species (Rideout et al. 2004). Variation in sperm quality across the spawning season has been previously reported for a number of freshwater and marine fishes (e.g. Beirão et al. 2011; Billard 1986; Munkittrick & Moccia 1987; see Chapter 1, Table 1.2). Results have shown that within and across species, seasonal changes in sperm quality can differ. For example, one study on turbot *Scophthalmus maximus* (Suquet et al. 1998) demonstrated that motility decreased linearly as the spawning season progressed, while a significant linear increase in sperm motility was shown for red porgy *Pagrus pagrus* (Mylonas et al. 2003). For sperm velocity, negative quadratic relationships were found in barbel *Barbus barbus* (Alavi et al. 2008), and Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* (Rouxel et al. 2008). Other studies have shown that velocity gradually decreased throughout the spawning season, such as in European perch *Perca fluviatilis* (Alavi et al. 2010), while a linear increase in velocity was found in Atlantic cod (Butts et al. 2010). In terms of longevity, studies on rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Büyükhatipoylu & Holt 1984) and sharpsnout seabream *Diplodus puntozzo* (Papadaki et al. 2008) found negative quadratic relationships. In contrast, a study on Brazilian flounder *Paralichthys orbignyanus* (Lanes et al. 2010), found that sperm longevity increased as the spawning season progressed.

For lake trout I found significant linear increases for sperm motility and linearity at 5 s post-activation. A negative quadratic relationship was found for longevity and velocity at 5 s post-activation. These results suggest the highest sperm longevity and velocity occurs during the middle portion of the spawning season. In my results, sperm quality was generally lower at the onset of the spawning season, in terms of each of the metrics that I measured. It is probable that sperm may be less motile at this time as they may not have gained the capacity for forward movement (Billard 1986; Mylonas et al. 2003). Essentially, this may be linked to the seasonal variation in progestin, 17α ,208-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one, which induces spermatozoa maturation in salmonids (Nagahama 1994).

Understanding how sperm density changes throughout the season is necessary for determination of optimal sperm to egg ratios to essentially maximize fertilization success (Butts et al. 2009; Casselman et al. 2006). Quantifying density can also be useful for estimating the biochemical properties of a known volume of milt (i.e. ATP, protein concentration; Boryshpolets et al. 2009). In the present study, we found a negative quadratic relationship for sperm density, with the densest sperm samples found on Dec 7

(or middle of the season). Studies on Atlantic cod (Rouxel et al. 2008) and yamú *Brycon amazonicus* (Cruz-Casallas et al. 2007) found similar relationships. Increases in sperm density throughout the spawning season have been found in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* (Piironen 1985), and Atlantic cod (Butts et al. 2010; Rakitin et al. 1999). In contrast, studies on rainbow trout (Büyükhatipoylu & Holt 1984), snow trout *Schizothorax richardsonii* (Agarwal & Raghuvanshi 2009), brown trout *Salmo trutta* (Hajirezaee et al. 2010) and Atlantic salmon (Aas et al. 1991) found that sperm density decreased throughout the season.

In salmonids, gametogenesis is a discontinuous process where sperm is released from the sperm ducts over several months, ageing throughout the spawning period (Billard 1986). During this timeframe, declines in ATP levels (Dreanno et al. 1999), hormonal activity of the sperm duct (Koldras et al. 1996; Shangguan & Crim 1999) and seminal plasma contents (i.e. ions, proteins, antioxidants; Ciereszko & Dabrowski 1995; Hajirezaee et al. 2010) have been reported. All of these biochemical and physiological milt indices have been linked to sperm activity (Lahnsteiner et al. 1996, 1998). Therefore, further work should be undertaken to explore how these indices are affecting sperm quality in lake trout. In addition, researchers should investigate how diet, stage of maturation, environmental conditions (e.g. temperature, photoperiod), and broodstock stress can affect sperm quality in captivity.

In conclusion, I found that 7 to 27 % of the variation in sperm traits can be explained by seasonal variation, indicating that seasonality can have a significant impact on the quality of sperm motility, velocity, linearity, longevity, and density. Understanding this seasonal variation in sperm quality is important for quantifying paternal effects on

fertilization success. For example, based on the available literature for another salmonid (Tuset et al. 2008), seasonal differences in sperm velocity that I have shown would result in ~ 10% difference in fertilization success. Overall, these findings have relevance for the aquaculture industry, salmonid rehabilitation programs as well as for estimation of a male's reproductive potential in the wild.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) in the form of Discovery Grants and Research Tools and Instrumentation Grants, as well as grants awarded by the University of Windsor, to T.E.P. and a Ministry of Research and Innovation postdoctoral fellowship grant to I.A.E.B. We are grateful to Sara Davidson, Erin Flannery, Jennifer Smith, and Mathew Morand for their help with sampling and data collection. We are also grateful to Bill Sloan, Scott Ferguson, and Ben Lewis of the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources (OMNR), who provided invaluable assistance at the OMNR Codrington Fisheries Research Facility.

References

Aas, G.H., Refstie, T., Gjerde, B. (1991) Evaluation of milt quality of Atlantic salmon. Aquaculture, 95, 125-132

Agarwal, N.K., Raghuvanshi, S.K. (2009) Spermatocrit and sperm density in snowtrout (*Schizothorax richardsonii*): Correlation and variation during the breeding season. *Aquaculture*, **291**, 61-64

- Alavi, S.M.H., Psenicka, M., Rodina, M., Policar, T., Linhart, O. (2008) Changes in sperm morphology, volume, density and motility and seminal plasma composition in *Barbus barbus* (Teleostei: Cyprinidae) during the reproductive season. *Aquatic Living Resources*, 21, 75-80
- Alavi, S.M.H., Rodina, M., Hatef, A., Stejskal, V., Policar, T., Hamáčková, J., Linhart,
 O. (2010) Sperm motility and monthly variations of semen characteristics in *Perca fluviatilis* (Teleostei: Percidae). *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 55, 174-182
- Babiak, I., Ottesen, O., Rudolfsen, G., Johnsen, S. (2006) Quantitative characteristics of Atlantic halibut, *Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L., semen throughout the reproductive season. *Theriogenology*, 65, 1587-1604
- Beirão, J., Soares, F., Herráez, M.P., Dinis, M.T., Cabrita, E. (2011) Changes in Solea senegalensis sperm quality throughout the year. Animal Reproduction Science, 126, 122-129
- Behnke, R.J. (2002) *Trout and Salmon of North America* (eds. G. Scott). p. 267-290. New York: The Free Press.

- Billard, R. (1986) Spermatogenesis and spermatology of some teleost fish species. *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, **26**, 877-920
- Boryshpolets, S., Dzyuba, B., Stejskal, V., Linhart, O. (2009) Dynamics of ATP and movement in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) sperm in conditions of decreasing osmolality. *Theriogenology*, **72**, 851-859
- Butts, I.A.E., Litvak, M.K., Trippel, E.A. (2010) Seasonal variations in seminal plasma and sperm characteristics of wild-caught and cultivated Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. *Theriogenology*, **73**, 873-885
- Butts, I.A.E., Trippel, E.A., Litvak, M.K. (2009) The effect of sperm to egg ratio and gamete contact time on fertilization success in Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* L. *Aquaculture*, **286**, 89-94
- Büyükhatipoylu, S., Holt, W. (1984) Sperm output in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*)effect of age, timing and frequency of stripping and presence of females. *Aquaculture*, **37**, 63-71
- Cruz-Casallas, P.E., Robles-Medina, V.M., Velasco-Santamaría, Y.M. (2007) Seasonal variation of sperm quality and the relationship between spermatocrit and sperm concentration in Yamú Brycon amazonicus. North American Journal of Aquaculture, 69, 159-165
- Casselman, S.J., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., Montgomerie, R. (2006) Sperm quality influences male fertilization success in walleye (*Sander vitreus*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **63**, 2119-2125

- Ciereszko, A., Liu, L., Dabrowski, K. (1996) Effects of season and dietary ascorbic acid on some biochemical characteristics of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, **15**, 1-10
- Dreanno, C., Suquet, M., Fauvel, J., Le Coz, J.R., Dorange, G., Quemener, L., Billard, R. (1999) Effect of the ageing process on the quality of sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) semen. *Journal Of Applied Ichthyology*, **15**, 176-180
- Evans, D., Willox, C. (1991) Loss of exploited, indigenous populations of lake trout,
 Salvelinus namaycush by stocking of non-native stocks. Canadian Journal of
 Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 48 (Supplement 1): 134-147
- Gage, M.J.G., Macfarlane, C.P., Yeates, S., Ward, R.G., Searle, J.B., Parker, G.A. (2004)
 Spermatozoal traits and sperm competition in Atlantic salmon: Relative sperm
 velocity is the primary determinant of fertilization success. *Current Biology*, 14, 44-47
- Guinand, B., Scribner, K.T., Page, K.S., Burnham-Curtis, M.K. (2003) Genetic variation over space and time: Analyses of extinct and remnant lake trout populations in the upper Great Lakes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, Series B, 270, 425-433
- Hajirezaee, S., Amiri, B.M., Mirvaghefi, A.R. (2010) Changes in sperm production,
 sperm motility, and composition of seminal fluid in Caspian brown trout, *Salmo trutta caspius*, over the course of a spawning season. *Journal of Applied Aquaculture*, 22, 157-170
- Jensen, A.L. (1994) Larkin's predation model of lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) extinction with harvesting and sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) predation: a

qualitative analysis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **51**,942-945

- Koldras, M., Loir, M., Maisse, G., LeGac, F. (1996) Study of the composition of seminal fluid and of sperm motility along the genital tract, during a spawning season, in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquatic Living Resources*, **9**, 337-345
- Lahnsteiner, F., Berger, B., Weismann, T., Patzner, R.A. (1996) Motility of spermatozoa of *Alburnus alburnus* (Cyprinidae) and its relationship to seminal plasma composition and sperm metabolism. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, **15**, 167-179
- Lahnsteiner, F., Berger, B., Weismann, T., Patzner, R.A. (1998) Determination of semen quality of the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, by sperm motility, seminal plasma parameters, and spermatozoal metabolism. *Aquaculture*, **163**, 163-181
- Lanes, C.F.C., Okamoto, M.H., Bianchini, A., Marins, L.F., Sampaio, L.A. (2010) Sperm quality of Brazilian flounder *Paralichthys orbignyanus* throughout the reproductive season. *Aquaculture Research*, **41**, 199-207
- Littell, R.C., Milliken, G.A., Stroup, W.W., Wolfinger, R.D. (1996) SAS System for Mixed Models. SAS Institute Incorporated.
- McDonald, J.H. (2009) *Handbook of Biological Statistics*, 2nd edition. Baltimore, Maryland: Sparky House Publishing
- Munkittrick, K.R., Moccia, R.D. (1987) Seasonal changes in the quality of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) semen: effect of a delay in stripping on spermatocrit, motility, volume and seminal plasma constituents. *Aquaculture*, **64**, 147-156

- Mylonas, C.C., Papadaki, M., Divanach, P. (2003) Seasonal changes in sperm production and quality in the red porgy *Pagrus pagrus* (L.). *Aquaculture Research*, **34**, 1161-1170
- Nagahama, Y. (1994) Endocrine control of gametogensis. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, **38**, 217-229
- Nakagawa, S. (2004) A farewell to Bonferroni: the problems of low statistical power and publication bias. *Behavioral Ecology*, **15**, 1044-1045
- Papadaki, M., Papadopoulou, M., Siggelaki, I., Mylonas, C.C. (2008) Egg and sperm production and quality of sharpsnout sea bream (*Diplodus putazzo*) in captivity. *Aquaculture*, **276**, 187-197
- Piironen, J. (1985) Variation in the properties of milt from the Finnish landlocked salmon (Salmo salar M. Sebago Girard) during a spawning season. Aquaculture, 48, 337-350
- Piller, K.R., Wilson, C.C., Lee, C.E., Lyons, J. (2005) Conservation genetics of inland lake trout in the upper Mississippi River basin: stocked or native ancestry? *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, **134**, 789-802
- Pitcher, T.E., Doucet, S.M., Beausoleil, J., Hanley, D. (2009) Secondary sexual characters and sperm traits in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). *Journal of Fish Biology*, **74**, 1450-1461
- Rakitin, A., Ferguson, M.M., Trippel, E.A. (1999) Spermatocrit and spermatozoa density in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): correlation and variation during the spawning season. *Aquaculture*, **170**, 349-358

- Rana, K. (1995) Preservation of gametes In: Broodstock Management and Egg and Larval Quality (eds. Bromage N.R. & Roberts R.J.). University Press, Cambridge, pp. 53-76.
- Rideout, R.M., Trippel, E.A., Litvak, M.K. (2004a) The development of haddock and Atlantic cod sperm cryopreservation techniques and the effect of sperm age on cryopreservation success. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **65**, 299-311
- Rouxel, C., Suquet, M., Cosson, J., Severe, A., Quemener, L., Fauvel, C. (2008) Changes in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) sperm quality during the spawning season. *Aquaculture Research*, **39**, 434-440
- Shangguan, B., Crim, L.W. (1999) Seasonal variations in sperm production and sperm quality in male winter flounder, *Pleuronectes americanus*: the effects of hypophysectomy, pituitary replacement therapy, and GnRH-A treatment. *Marine Biology*, **134**, 9-27
- Suquet, M., Dreanno, C., Dorange, G., Normant, Y., Quemener, L., Gaignon, J.L., Billard
 R. (1998) The ageing phenomenon of turbot spermatozoa: effects on morphology,
 motility, and concentration, intracellular ATP content, fertilization, and storage
 capacities. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **52**, 31-41
- Trippel, E.A. (1999) Estimation of stock reproductive potential: history and challenges for Canadian Atlantic gadoid stock assessments. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science*, 25, 61-81
- Trippel, E.A. (2003) Estimation of male reproductive success of marine fishes. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science*, **33**, 81-113

- Tuset, V.M., Dietrich, G.J., Wojtczak, M., Słowińska, M., de Monserrat, J., Ciereszko, A.
 (2008) Relationships between morphology, motility and fertilization capacity in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) spermatozoa. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 24, 393-397
- Walters, C.J., Steer, G., Spangler, G. (1980) Responses of lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) to harvesting, stocking, and lamprey reduction. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 37, 2133-2145

Zar, J.H. (1996) Biostatistical Analysis. 3rd edition. New Jersey, USA: Prentice-Hall

Figure Captions

Figure 2.1 The relationship and effect of sampling date on motility (A and B), velocity (C and D) and linearity (E and F) at 5 (dashed lines) and 10 s (solid lines) post-activation. Filled circles in plots A, C, and E represent mean values ± SEM for each of the 16 male lake trout at 5 s post-activation; open circles represent mean individual values for 10 s post-activation. Means with shared letters in plots B, D, and F did not differ significantly from one another based on Tukey post-hoc tests.

Figure 2.2 The relationship and effect of sampling date on longevity (A and B) and density (C and D). Means with shared letters in plots B and D did not differ significantly from one another based on Tukey post-hoc tests.

Figure 2.1



Figure 2.2



CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECTS OF INBREEDING ON SPERM QUALITY IN LAKE TROUT, SALVELINUS NAMAYCUSH²

Synopsis

The effects of inbreeding, the mating between relatives, in both captive and wild species have been reported to negatively affect a wide variety of life history traits related to survivorship, known as inbreeding depression. More recently however, the effects of inbreeding on reproductive traits such as male sperm quality have become of particular interest (primarily in mammals while studies on other taxa are lacking) because of their direct role in competitive fertilization success. The objective of this study was to test the inbreeding depression hypothesis as it relates to sperm quality metrics using sexually mature males from a captive population of experimentally inbred and outbred lake trout, Salvelinus namaycush. I found that sperm quality metrics (including velocity, motility, linearity, longevity and concentration) of moderately (whose parents were maternal and paternal half siblings) and highly (whose parents were full siblings) inbred males, did not differ significantly from outbred males, providing no support for the predictions of the inbreeding depression hypothesis. The lack of differences in sperm quality traits can likely be explained by several factors including no inbreeding depression in the population (due to purging, low levels of inbreeding or no detection at the gamete level), or the captive conditions of the individuals used in the experiment. The findings in this study suggest that inbreeding does not necessarily lead to inbreeding depression in captive salmonid populations.

² This chapter is the result of joint research with Dr. Trevor Pitcher and Dr. Chris Wilson

Introduction

Inbreeding, defined as the mating between relatives, has been demonstrated to reduce the fitness of species in a wide variety of taxa. A reduction in fitness (or phenotype value in practical terms) of offspring from matings between related individuals compared to the fitness of offspring from randomly mated individuals is known as inbreeding depression (Wright 1977). The reduction in fitness arising from inbreeding is commonly believed to be due to the combination of effects originating from dominance and overdominance (Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1999; Wright 1977). Fitness loss as a result of inbreeding has been reported in both captive (Lacy et al. 1993) and wild (Keller & Waller 2002; Crnokrak & Roff 1999) populations. Fitness losses due to reduced survivorship caused by inbreeding are related to a number of factors including for example, increased parasite susceptibility (Rijks et al. 2008), growth deformities (Grant & Grant 1995), and decreased juvenile survivorship (Jiménez et al. 1994). Most research to date has focused on aspects of survivorship, however an individual's fitness is contingent on both their survival to sexual maturity and their reproductive success once sexually mature (Stearns 1992), suggesting a need to examine reproductive traits as they relate to inbreeding depression.

Inbreeding depression has been primarily studied in survival-oriented metrics however, reproduction is closely linked to fitness and can therefore be significantly reduced as a result of inbreeding depression (Saccheri et al. 2005; Crnokrak & Roff, 1995). The focus of such studies has been to investigate reproductive traits such as mating success (Joron & Brakefield, 2003) and fertility (Johnston 1992), although, inbreeding depression has also been shown to affect fitness in more cryptic ways such as

having detrimental effects on sperm quality (reviewed by Fitzpatrick & Evans 2009). For example, in both wild rabbits (Oryctoloagus cuniculus) and lions (Panthera leo), decreased levels of heterozygosity (resulting in the expression of increased levels of deleterious recessive alleles) were associated with an increase in sperm abnormalities (Gage et al. 2006; Wildt et al. 1987). Additionally, inbreeding depression has been shown to affect sperm quality traits such as sperm motility, sperm velocity and sperm concentration, which have been determined to have significant effects on fertilization success (Fitzpatrick & Evans 2009). In white-footed mice (Peromyscus leucopus) and Mexican gray wolves (Canis lupus) an increase in inbreeding led to significant reductions in sperm motility (Malo et al. 2010; Asa et al. 2007) while in the Florida panther (Felis concolor coryi), sperm motility and sperm concentration were significantly lower when compared to non-inbred panther populations (Barone et al. 1994). It is thought that spermatozoa may be more susceptible to the effects of inbreeding depression given the complex nature of spermatogenesis and the high potential for mutational defects (Gage et al. 2006). As sperm quality can significantly contribute to the fitness of an individual, it becomes an important mechanism influencing reproductive success. The majority of studies that have investigated the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality have focused on mammals, meanwhile studies on other taxa have been largely ignored (but see Weeks et al. 2009; Zajitschek & Brooks 2010; Zajitschek et al. 2009).

Lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) are an interesting species to study the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality metrics due to their unique life history. Unlike most salmonids, lake trout are a long-lived (average life span of 20 years), iteroparous species that have a tendency to breed nocturnally (Gunn 1995). As a result, lake trout lack sexual

dimorphism and exhibit little to no pre-spawning male-male competition (Esteve et al. 2008; Gunn 1995). Given these unique traits, it is possible that sexual selection operates predominantly at the gamete level in this species.

Lake trout are also of conservation and management concern, due to population declines and losses in the Great Lakes over the past half-century (McDermid et al. 2010). Overfishing and predation by the invasive sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) caused major declines in lake trout populations throughout the 1940s and 1950s, culminating in the loss of native populations from several of the Great Lakes (Walters et al. 1980; Selgeby et al. 1995 and references therein). The long-term persistence of many inland populations is similarly of concern, with many jurisdictions employing re-stocking and rehabilitation efforts to help restore natural populations (Piller et al. 2005). As these programs are focused on ways to improving the success of this species in the wild, assessing gamete quality is an important element of anticipating reproductive success or failure.

In this study I tested the inbreeding depression hypothesis by examining the effects of varying levels of inbreeding on sperm quality metrics in a captively bred population of lake trout. I predict that inbred offspring would produce poor quality sperm (including lower velocity, motility, linearity, longevity and concentration) compared to offspring arising from unrelated parents. I examined sperm traits from individuals from four different levels of inbreeding, including: (i) offspring arising from full siblings, (ii) offspring arising from maternal half siblings, (iii) offspring arising from paternal half siblings and (iv) offspring arising from unrelated individuals.

Methods

Creation of Family Lines

Lake trout originated from wild-caught populations in two interconnected lakes in Haliburton, Ontario (Clean and Macdonald Lake, Latitude: 45.2501; Longitude: -78.5329). In 1983, wild lake trout were manually spawned at the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources Codrington Fisheries Research Facility, located in Codrington, Ontario (Latitude: 44.1468; Longitude: -77.8045). Single-pair crosses (10 males and 10 females) from this collection were used to create 10 presumably unrelated families. All fish at the hatchery were freeze-branded and fin clipped to allow for individual and family identification. In 1994 (when males and females were sexually mature), four unrelated offspring from the single-pair crosses (2 males and 2 females) were chosen haphazardly and used to set up a 2 x 2 factorial cross, producing four unrelated families (see Figure 3.1a). Individuals chosen for the 2×2 factorial cross were unrelated based on allozyme data (Wilson C., personal communication). In 2003, the mature adults from these four families were used to set up experimental inbreeding crosses. A factorial cross with 8 females and 4 males (each female mated to the same four males) was used to create families (n = 32), each exhibiting four levels of inbreeding; (i) full siblings, (ii) maternal half siblings, (iii) paternal half siblings and (iv) unrelated individuals (see Figure 3.1b). On November 9 and 10, 2009, 102 males from the 32 families were sampled for milt. Previous research has shown that sperm quality traits (e.g. velocity, longevity and density) in captive lake trout tends to peak in the middle of the spawning season (Chapter 2), therefore the data we used in this study was collected during that timeframe.

Fish Husbandry and Sperm Collection

Individuals were housed in 5 circular tanks (5' diameter with a working depth of 24") fed by untreated water from the headwaters of Marsh Creek (Latitude: 44.1834; Longitude: -77.7828) and were kept under a natural photoperiod and temperature regime. Individuals from all four inbreeding treatments were distributed randomly throughout the 5 tanks. Males and females in each tank were prevented from mating by a lack of natural substrate on the bottom (Yeates et al. 2007). Fish were fed AquaBrood feed (7.5 mm pellet; Corey Nutrition Company, Fredericton, NB, Canada) at 0.5% body weight per day. Total length and weight (mean \pm SEM) of the males at the onset of spawning were 539.87 \pm 3.83 mm and 1697.08 \pm 36.74 g, respectively. Males were anaesthetized using 40 to 50 ppm solution of MS-222 (Syndel International, Vancouver, BC, Canada). Milt samples were collected, using slight pressure to the abdomen and massaging towards the urogenital pore, in 532 mL Whirl-Pak® plastic bags (Nasco, Newmarket, ON, Canada) and stored in a cooler (~ 8°C). Extra care was taken to ensure that urine, feces, blood, or water did not contaminate the milt samples.

Sperm Activity

Sperm were video-recorded using a CCD black and white video camera (XC-ST50, Sony, Japan) module at 50 Hz vertical frequency, mounted on an external-phase contrast microscope (CX41 Olympus, Melville, NY, USA) with a 10 × negative-phase magnification objective (Pitcher et al. 2009). Sperm quality traits (velocity, motility, linearity, and longevity) were assessed within 3 hours of collection, by activating an

aliquot ($< 0.2 \,\mu$ L) of milt with 10 μ L of source water circulating through the hatchery. Water temperature was maintained by holding water samples in a cooler at $\sim 8^{\circ}C$ (temperature of the water on November 9 and 10, 2009). Once recordings were taken, sperm quality traits were analyzed, using the HTM-CEROS sperm analysis system (version 12, CEROS, Hamilton Thorne Biosciences, Beverly MA, USA) set at the following parameters: number of frames = 60, minimum contrast = 11, photometer = 55-65, minimum cell size = 3 pixels. Sperm velocity, motility and linearity were recorded at 5 s post-activation. It has been shown in salmonids that once sperm is released and activated, there is ~ 5 s to fertilize eggs (Hoysak & Liley 2001). Therefore, a postactivation time of 5 s is the most biologically relevant as it corresponds to conditions found in the wild. Sperm velocity was estimated as the average velocity measured over the actual point-to-track followed by the cell. We also examined sperm velocity in terms of VAP (average path velocity) and VSL (straightline velocity) and found qualitatively similar relationships, so we do not present them here. Sperm motility was calculated as the percentage of motile cells divided by the total number of cells. Sperm path linearity, which is the straightness with which a sperm cell moves per unit of distance traveled, was measured as the departure of the cell track from a straight line. Straighter swimming sperm will have a larger linearity value. Longevity was estimated as the time for ~95% of the sperm cells to become immotile (Gage et al. 2004). The sperm analysis system uses the average number of sperm per recorded track to estimate sperm quality traits. Each sperm track was manually checked for quality assurance (e.g. no sperm were simply moving due to flow of the water added for activation).

Sperm Concentration

Sperm concentration was estimated by adding between $250 \ \mu L$ to $1000 \ \mu L$ milt (depending on how much milt was available) for individual males into separate $1500 \ \mu L$ Eppendorf microcentrifuge tubes. Eppendorf tubes were then centrifuged for 10 min at 7500 x g (accuSpin Micro 17, Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, New Jersey, USA). Centrifuging milt separates sperm and seminal plasma into opaque white and clear solutions, respectively (Hoysak & Liley, 2001). To calculate sperm concentration, the volume of the opaque layer was recoded for each sample and then divided by total milt volume and expressed as a percentage.

Statistical Analyses

JMP (v.8.0.2; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, U.S.A) statistical software was used to analyze data. One-way ANOVA models were used to compare sperm quality traits and Fulton's condition factor [K= total mass/(total length)³ x 100000] between the levels of inbreeding. Sperm velocity, motility and linearity were analyzed at 5 s post-activation. All traits were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test and homogeneity of variances were tested using Levene's test. Motility data were arcsine square root transformed to satisfy statistical assumptions. The Kruskal-Wallis test was used to analyze longevity, sperm concentration and Fulton's K after attempting transformation which was not successful. Potential tank effects were tested for before running one-way ANOVAs. All p-values were greater than 0.05, therefore individual tanks were not included in the analyses.

Results

Sperm velocity (full-sibling offspring (FS): 111 ± 21.7 ; maternal half-sibling offspring (MHS): 102.8 ± 26.4 ; paternal half-sibling offspring (PHS): 106.7 ± 25.3 ; unrelated offspring (UN): 118.8 ± 25.2 ; $F_{3,98} = 2.03$, P = 0.12), motility (FS: 61.8 ± 19.2 ; MHS: 59.6 ± 18.8 ; PHS: 59.9 ± 23.6 ; UN: 62.6 ± 21.9 ; $F_{3,98} = 0.17$, P = 0.92), and linearity (FS: 69.4 ± 10 ; MHS: 68.2 ± 9.1 ; PHS: 73.1 ± 10.2 ; UN: 71.5 ± 8.7 ; $F_{3,98} = 1.30$, P = 0.28) did not significantly differ between the levels of inbreeding (Figure 3.2).

For traits that were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test [sperm longevity (FS: 24.3 ± 7.6; MHS: 24.9 ± 8.9; PHS: 25.8 ± 10.3; UN: 27.6 ± 8.1; χ^2 = 2.86, *df* = 3, *P* = 0.41), sperm concentration (FS: 48.2 ± 22.8; MHS: 51.4 ± 16; PHS: 43.5 ± 26.1; UN: 44 ± 23.4; χ^2 = 4.60, *df* = 3, *P* = 0.20) and Fulton's K (FS: 1.07 ± 0.11; MHS: 1.06 ± 0.07; PHS: 1.05 ± 0.10; UN: 1.06 ± 0.06; χ^2 = 1.35, *df* = 3, *P* = 0.72)], no significant difference was found between the levels of inbreeding (Figure 3.3).

Because no significant relationship was found between sperm quality metrics and inbreeding, a post-hoc power analysis test was conducted to examine the statistical power of our tests (GPower, http://www.psycho.uni-duesseldorf.de/aap/projects/gpower/). I found on average, the statistical power for sperm traits was 76% (percent motility: 0.55; velocity: 0.93; linearity: 0.85; longevity: 0.74; concentration: 0.74).

Discussion

My findings did not provide support for the hypothesis that inbreeding depression affects sperm quality in a captive population of lake trout. I found that for moderately inbred (whose parents were maternal and paternal half siblings) to highly inbred males (whose parents were full siblings), sperm quality showed no apparent signs of inbreeding depression. These results do not follow the general pattern found in the literature; inbreeding causes detrimental effects on sperm quality in many species (see Chapter 1, Table 1.1). For example, in a recent comparative analysis across 20 endangered mammal species, decreased levels of heterozygosity (as a result of increased levels of inbreeding) significantly reduced sperm quality metrics across both wild and captive populations (Fitzpatrick & Evans 2009). Here, I provide possible explanations as to why inbreeding did not lead to inbreeding depression in my study.

The lake trout's unique life history strategy along with their natural distribution may provide support for a lack of detection. The retreat of glaciers following the Pleistocene has resulted in the existence of lake trout inhabiting small, inland, freshwater lakes, which act as isolated, closed systems (Wilson & Hebert 1998). Lake trout, unlike most salmonids, are a long-lived iteroparous species adapted to live in small populations throughout these isolated lakes (Wilson & Mandrak 2004). Given this, it is possible that generations of inbreeding may have occurred and consequently the purging of lethal alleles (Larsen et al. 2011). Purging is a mechanism that reduces the fitness related losses of inbreeding through the removal of deleterious recessive alleles via natural selection (Hedrick 1994; Thornhill 1993). Purging is more likely to occur in small populations with a long history of inbreeding and consequently an accumulation of these lethal alleles (Crnokrak & Barrett 2002). Once populations have been purged of deleterious recessive alleles, further inbreeding would in theory have no effect on the fitness of the population. Evidence for purging has been shown in both plants and animals (reviewed in Crnokrak
& Barrett 2002). For example, in guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*), purging was demonstrated in a captive population that had been experimentally reared for 10 generations (Larsen et al. 2011). Inbreeding depression in offspring survival and clutch size increased throughout the first 4 to 6 generations of inbreeding followed by a recovery in fitness thereafter, despite further generations of inbreeding (Larsen et al. 2011). Overall, it is difficult to determine whether deleterious recessive alleles were previously lost in this population due to the conditions and assumptions underlying purging as a mechanism for reducing inbreeding depression. An understanding of the genetic mechanisms responsible for inbreeding i.e. dominance (necessary for purging) or overdominance, strength of the deleterious recessive alleles, and strength of selection on those alleles in the wild is needed to provide support for purging (Wang et al. 2002).

Another possible explanation for my results may be that inbreeding depression only affects early life-history traits. There is a possibility that if inbreeding depression was severe enough, individuals who expressed recessive alleles early in development would have likely died off, for example at the hatching stage, leaving behind those individuals with increased levels of heterozygosity and thus increased fitness (Keller & Waller 2002). Once these remaining males reached sexual maturity, they would in theory be unaffected by further inbreeding and possible inbreeding depression, which would otherwise reduce sperm quality. In salmonids, there is evidence for inbreeding depression affecting early life history traits such as fry mortality in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (Kincaid 1976), while no effect was found for fertility or egg hatching success (Su et al. 1996). In order to conclude that inbreeding depression in this population had no effect at the gamete level, I would need more information on the wild-origin ancestors of the population.

A lack of inbreeding depression in this lake trout population could also be attributed to having only one generation of experimental inbreeding in my study. In wild salmonids, inbreeding is expected to be a gradual process that can take several generations to demonstrate any negative effects (Wang et al. 2002). Several studies have found evidence for inbreeding depression in species that have experienced multiple generations of inbreeding (Crnokrak & Barrett 2002). In a study on guppies by Zajitschek et al. (2009), 4 generations of brother-sister matings (F = 0.59) were required to detect any evidence of inbreeding depression on sperm competitiveness, while moderately inbred males (F = 0.25) showed no reduction in the trait. With one generation of inbreeding in my study, full sibling offspring had an F value of 0.25, while maternal and paternal half sibling offspring had an F value of 0.125. My results are potentially consistent with those found in the guppy where an inbreeding coefficient of 0.25 was not strong enough to detect negative effects on sperm quality. In rainbow trout, it was suggested that a lack of detection of inbreeding depression on male fertilization success could be attributed to low levels of inbreeding in the study (Su et al. 1996). Although I did not find evidence for inbreeding depression in this population, we cannot exclude the long-term effects i.e. successive generations of inbreeding as a potential source of inbreeding depression.

Soft selection due to captive conditions has more recently been shown to mask the effects of inbreeding depression (Armbruster & Reed 2005; Crnokrak & Roff 1999). Differences in the severity of inbreeding depression between captive and wild

populations have been documented in a variety of species. Benign living conditions often result in an underestimate of the effects of inbreeding due to a lack of environmental pressure (e.g. Armbruster & Reed 2005; Crnokrak & Roff 1999; Hedrick & Kalinowski 2000; Keller & Waller 2002). These environmental pressures range from unpredictable climate conditions, disease, and resource limitation to the absence of competition for mates (Crnokrak & Roff 1999; Joron & Brakefield 2003). Studies that involve the introduction of captively bred individuals into their wild environments often show an increase in the negative effects due to inbreeding. For example, in white-footed mice (Peromyscus leucopus), survivorship rates were lower for inbred individuals reintroduced into the wild, compared to those living under laboratory conditions (Jiménez et al. 1994). In butterflies, male mating success was lower when inbred individuals experienced a natural free flight environment compared to a caged environment (Joron & Brakefield 2003). As male-male competition is generally absent in captive populations, negative effects of inbreeding depression are frequently exposed when males directly face competition for mates (Meagher et al. 2000). For example, in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis *niloticus*), the proportion of offspring sired in a single spawning event by inbred males was decreased when there were an increased number of males competing for copulations (Fessehaye et al. 2009). Male-male competition at the gamete level has also elucidated similar negative effects at the gamete level. In the flour beetle (*Tribolium castaneum*), male fertility was not significantly different between inbred and outbred individuals, however under competition, inbred males were found to suffer from decreased sperm competitiveness (Michalczyk et al. 2010). In guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*), sperm number was significantly reduced in inbred compared to outbred males however this effect was

not observed under laboratory conditions (Zajitschek & Brooks 2010). Lake trout in this study had been living in a captive environment for seven years. Although conditions were semi-natural, with no manipulation of water quality (i.e. water was provided by a natural stream) or temperature, competitive interactions for both resources and mates were absent. Evidence for relaxed selection on lake trout from the same hatchery I used in this study has been demonstrated. McDermid et al. (2010) found that wild-origin lake trout outcompeted hatchery-reared lake trout in a number of life history traits, including fertilization success (an indicator of sperm quality). Wild lake trout, compared to captive, have an opportunity for post-copulatory sexual selection as multiple males have been observed accompanying a spawning female (Esteve et al. 2008). The loss of this selective pressure on sperm competition in captively bred males may help to explain why both inbred and outbred individuals did not differ in sperm quality metrics.

Finally, it is possible that we did not have enough statistical power to detect any effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality (Thomas & Juanes 1996). However, using a post-hoc power analysis test suggests that this is unlikely. Statistical power for sperm traits ranged from 55-92%, with an average of 76%. Compared to other studies that have investigated the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality, a sample size of 102 males in our study is large. Therefore, it is expected that if inbreeding depression had any detrimental affects on sperm quality, it would have been statistically detected in my study.

In summary, sperm quality appears to be unaffected by experimental levels of inbreeding in a captive population of lake trout. Coefficients of inbreeding depression (δ), where $\delta = 1 - (X_1 / X_0)$ (adapted from Crnokrak & Roff 1999) in my study were

extremely low, ranging from 0.12 for sperm longevity to -0.09 for sperm concentration (where the inbred mean trait value, X_1 , was higher then the outbred mean trait value, X_0). Compared to inbreeding coefficients calculated for sperm traits in other fish species, along with other species in general (Table 1.1 in Chapter 1), I assume with a high level of certainty that these fish did not suffer from the effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality. Although my findings are inconsistent with those found in the literature, the lack of differences in sperm quality traits might be explained by no inbreeding depression in the population (due to purging, low levels of inbreeding or no detection at the gamete level), or the captive conditions of the experiment. My study highlights the importance of the conditions and assumptions needed to detect inbreeding depression at the gamete level and provides important insight into inbreeding in hatchery-reared salmonid populations.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada in the form of Discovery Grants and Research Tools and Instrumentation Grants, as well as grants awarded by the University of Windsor, to T.E.P. Bill Sloan, Scott Ferguson, and Ben Lewis of the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources (OMNR) provided invaluable assistance at the OMNR Codrington Fisheries Research Facility.

References

- Armbruster, P., Reed, D.H. (2005) Inbreeding depression in benign and stressful environments. *Heredity*, **95**, 235-242
- Asa, C., Miller, P., Agnew, M., Rebolledo, J.A.R., Lindsey, S.L., Callahan, M., Bauman,
 K. (2007) Relationship of inbreeding with sperm quality and reproductive success
 in Mexican gray wolves. *Animal Conservation*, **10**, 326-331
- Barone, M.A., Roelke, M.E., Howard, J., Brown, L.J., Anderson, A.E., Wildt, D.E.
 (1994) Reproductive characteristics of male Florida panthers: comparative studies from Florida, Texas, Colorado, Latin America, and North American zoos. *American Society of Mammalogists*, **75**, 150-162
- Charlesworth, D., Charlesworth, B. (1999) The genetic basis of inbreeding depression. *Genetics Research*, **74**, 329-340
- Crnokrak, P., Barrett, S.C.H. (2002) Perspective: purging the genetic load: a review of the experimental evidence. *Evolution*, **56**, 2347-2358
- Crnokrak, P., Roff, D.A. (1999) Inbreeding depression in the wild. *Heredity*, 83, 260-270
- Esteve, M., McLennan, D.A., Gunn, J.M. (2008) Lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) spawning behaviour: the evolution of a new female strategy. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, **83**, 69-76
- Fessehaye, Y., Bovenhuis, H., Rezk, M.A., Crooijmans, R., van Arendonk, J.A.M., Komen, H. (2009) Effects of relatedness and inbreeding on reproductive success of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Aquaculture*, **294**, 180-186

- Fitzpatrick, J.L., Evans, J.P. (2009) Reduced heterozygosity impairs sperm quality in endangered mammals. *Biology Letters*, **5**, 320-323
- Gage, M.J.G., Macfarlane, C.P., Yeates, S., Ward, R.G., Searle, J.B., Parker, G.A.
 (2004) Spermatozoal traits and sperm competition in Atlantic salmon: Relative sperm velocity is the primary determinant of fertilization success. *Current Biology*, 14, 44-47
- Gage, M.J.G., Surridge, A.K., Tomkins, J.L., Green, E., Wiskin, L., Bell, D.J., Hewitt,
 G.M. (2006) Reduced heterozygosity depresses sperm quality in wild rabbits, *Oryctolagus cuniculus. Current Biology*, 16, 612-617
- Grant, P.R., Grant, R. (1995) The founding of a new population of Darwin's finches. *Evolution*, **49**, 229-240
- Gunn, J.M. (1995) Spawning behavior of lake trout: Effects on colonization ability.*Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 21, (Supplement 1), 323-329
- Hedrick, P.W. (1994) Purging inbreeding depression and the probability of extinction: full-sib mating. *Heredity*, **73**, 363-372
- Hedrick, P.W., Kalinowski, S.T. (2000) Inbreeding depression in conservation biology. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, **31**, 139-162
- Hoysak, D.J., Liley, R.N. (2001) Fertilization dynamics in sockeye salmon and a comparison of sperm from alternative male phenotypes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 58, 1286-1300
- Jiménez, J.A., Hughes, K.A., Alaks, G., Graham, L., Lacy, R.C. (1994) An experimental study of inbreeding depression in a natural habitat. *Science*, **266**, 271-273

- Johnston, M.O. (1992) Effects of cross and self-fertilization on progeny fitness in *Lobelia* cardinalis and L. siphilitica. Evolution, **46**, 688-702
- Joron, M., Brakefield, P.M. (2003) Captivity masks inbreeding effects on male mating success in butterflies. *Nature*, **424**, 191-194
- Keller, L.F., Waller, D.M. (2002) Inbreeding effects in wild populations. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **17**, 230-241
- Kincaid, H.L. (1976) Inbreeding in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, **33**, 2420-2426
- Lacy, R.C., Petric, A., Warneke, M. (1993) *Inbreeding and outbreeding in captive populations of wild animals*. In: The Natural History of Inbreeding and Outbreeding: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives (ed. N.W. Thornhill). p. 352-374. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Larsen, L.-K., Pélabon, C., Bolstad, G.H., Viken, A., Fleming, I.A., Rosenqvist, G.
 (2011) Temporal change in inbreeding depression in life-history traits in captive populations of guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*): evidence for purging? *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 24, 823-834
- Malo, A.F., Martinez-Pastor, F., Alaks, G., Dubach, J., Lacy, R.C. (2010) Effects of genetic captive-breeding protocols on sperm quality and fertility in the whitefooted mouse. *Biology of Reproduction*, **85**, 540-548
- McDermid, J.L., Sloan, W.N., Wilson, C.C., Shuter, B.J. (2010) Early life history variation among hatchery- and wild-origin lake trout reared in a hatchery environment. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, **139**, 21-28

- Meagher, S., Penn, D.J., Potts, W.K. (2000) Male-male competition magnifies inbreeding depression in wild house mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 3324-3329
- Michalczyk, L., Martin, O.Y., Millard, A.L., Emerson, B.C., Gage, M.J.G. (2010)
 Inbreeding depresses sperm competitiveness, but not fertilization or mating success in male *Tribolium castaneum*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, Series B, 277, 3483-3491
- Piller, K. R., Wilson, C.C., Lee, C.E., Lyons, J. (2005) Conservation genetics of inland lake trout in the upper Mississippi River basin: stocked or native ancestry?
 Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, **134**, 789-802
- Pitcher, T.E., Doucet, S.M., Beausoleil, J., Hanley, D. (2009) Secondary sexual characters and sperm traits in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). *Journal of Fish Biology*, **74**, 1450-1461
- Rijks, J.M., Hoffman, J.I., Kuiken, T., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Amos, W. (2008)
 Heterozygosity and lungworm burden in harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*). *Heredity*, 100, 587-593
- Saccheri, I. J., Lloyd, H.D., Helyar, S.J., Brakefield, P.M. (2005) Inbreeding uncovers fundamental differences in the genetic load affecting male and female fertility in a butterfly. *Proceeding of the Royal Society of* London, Series B, **272**, 39-46
- Selgeby, J.H., Eschenroder, R.L., Krueger, C.C., Marsden, J.E., and Pycha, R.L. (editors)
 (1995) International conference on restoration of lake trout in the Laurentian
 Great Lakes. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 21 (Supplement 1). 564pp.

- Stearns, S.C. (1992) *The Evolution of Life Histories*. Oxford, U.K: Oxford University Press.
- Su, G.S., Liljedahl, L.E., Gall, G.A.E. (1996) Effects of inbreeding on growth and reproductive traits in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture, 142, 139-148
- Thomas, L., Juanes, F. (1996) The importance of statistical power analysis: an example from *Animal Behaviour*. *Animal Behaviour*, **52**, 856-859
- Thornhill, N.W. (1993) *The Natural History of Inbreeding and Outbreeding: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press
- Walters, C.J., Steer, G., Spangler, G. (1980) Responses of lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) to harvesting, stocking, and lamprey reduction. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 37, 2133-2145
- Wang, S., Hard, J.J., Utter, J. (2002) Salmonid inbreeding: a review. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **11**, 301-319
- Weeks, S.C., Reed, S.K., Ott, D.W., Scanabissi, F. (2009) Inbreeding effects on sperm production in clam shrimp (*Eulimnadia texana*). *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 11, 125-134
- Wildt, D.E., Bush, M., Goodrowe, K.L., Packer, C., Pusey, A.E., Brown, J.L., Joslin, P.,
 O'Brien, S.J. (1987) Reproductive and genetic consequences of founding isolated lion populations. *Nature*, **329**, 328-331
- Wilson, C.C., Hebert, P.D.N. (1998) Phylogeography and postglacial dispersal of lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) in North America. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 55, 1010-1024

- Wilson, C.C., Mandrak N. (2004) History and evolution of lake trout in Shield lakes: past and future challenges. In Boreal Shield Watersheds: Lake Trout Ecosystems in a Changing Environment (eds. J. Gunn, R. Steedman, R. Ryder). p. 21-35. Florida: CRC Press.
- Wright, S. (1977) Evolution and the Genetics of Populations, vol.3, Experimental Results and Evolutionary Deductions. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Yeates, S., Searle, J., Ward, G., Gage, M.J.G. (2007) A two-second delay confers firstmale fertilization precedence within *in vitro* sperm competition experiments in Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **70**, 318-322
- Zajitschek, S.R.K., Brooks, R.C. (2010) Inbreeding depression in male traits and preference for outbred males in *Poecilia reticulata*. *Behavioral Ecology*, **21**, 884-891
- Zajitschek, S.R.K., Lindholm, A.K., Evans, J.P., Brooks, R.C. (2009) Experimental evidence that high levels of inbreeding depress sperm competitiveness. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 22, 1338-1345

Figure Captions

Figure 3.1 Breeding scheme, representing the creation of four levels of experimentally inbred and outbred lake trout. In 1994, four fish (2 males and 2 females) were used to set up a 2 x 2 factorial cross, producing four families (A). Sexually matured offspring from the 2 x 2 cross were then used to set up experimental inbreeding crosses in 2003 (B). Eight individual females were mated to the same four same males to produce full sibs, maternal half sibs, paternal half sibs and unrelated individuals. Subscript numbers indicate female family origin (family 1, 2, 3 or 4) and subscript letters indicate different females from the same family.

Figure 3.2 The relationship between sperm velocity (A), percent motility (B) and linearity (C) at five seconds post-activation. These sperm performance metrics did not significantly differ between inbred and outbred males (see text for details). The line in the center of each box represents the median. The upper and lower bounds of the box represent the upper and lower quartiles respectively and the extended lines represent the maximum and minimum values excluding outliers. Raw data are presented for the sake of clarity.

Figure 3.3 The relationship between inbreeding level and measures of sperm longevity (A), sperm concentration (B) and individual Fulton's condition (C). These sperm metrics and body condition did not significantly differ between inbred and outbred males (see text for details). The line in the center of each box represents the median. The upper and lower bounds of the box represent the upper and lower quartiles respectively and the

extended lines represent the maximum and minimum values excluding outliers. Raw data is presented.

Figure 3.1



Figure 3.2



Figure 3.3



CHAPTER 4: GENERAL DISCUSSION

Summary

In this thesis I examined seasonal variation and the effects of inbreeding on sperm quality in a captive population of lake trout. The purpose of this final chapter is to summarize the findings of my research and provide implications and future directions that could expand on my results. I found that sperm quality tends to peak throughout the middle of the reproductive season in lake trout. Overall, I was able to demonstrate that 7 to 27% of the variation in sperm quality traits can be explained by seasonality. Using these data, sperm from experimentally inbred and outbred lake trout were sampled during the peak of the reproductive season in order to test the inbreeding depression hypothesis, which predicts that inbreeding will have detrimental effects on sperm quality. I found no significant relationship between inbreeding level (full sibling offspring, maternal half sibling offspring, paternal half sibling offspring, and unrelated offspring) and sperm quality suggesting there was no inbreeding depression. Together, these results provide important implications for studying sperm quality in captively bred salmonid populations.

Chapter Two

Sperm quality, which includes measures of motility, velocity, longevity and density are considered the primary determinants of fertilization success in various externally fertilizing fish species, including salmonids (e.g. Casselman et al. 2006; Gage

et al. 2004; Tuset et al. 2007). As sperm quality plays a vital role in fertilization success, it is important to understand the environmental factors that can affect sperm quality for example, temperature and photoperiodic conditions (Chemineau et al. 2007), which ultimately depend on the timing of the reproductive season. It has been demonstrated that sperm quality is highly dependent on the timing of the spawning season, both in wild and captive fish species (Babiak et al. 2006; Butts et al. 2010; Munkittrick & Moccia 1987). Therefore, understanding when peak sperm quality occurs has important implications for both the aquaculture industry and studies that examine sperm quality (in order to rule out seasonality as possible consequence of poor performance). Thus, in Chapter Two, I examined the seasonal variation in sperm quality of a captively bred population of lake trout using both a regression and a repeated measures approach.

I found significant positive linear relationships for percent motility and linearity at 5 seconds post activation, significant negative quadratic relationships for velocity at 5 seconds post activation, longevity and density and finally a significant positive quadratic relationship for linearity at 10 seconds post activation. Using the repeated measures approach, I found a significant effect of season on percent motility, velocity, linearity and longevity. Overall, sperm quality was highest during the middle two sampling dates, corresponding with the middle of the reproductive season for wild populations of lake trout in Ontario.

Sperm quality was generally low at the start of the reproductive season for all sperm traits measured except linearity at 10 seconds post activation. It has been suggested that sperm may be less motile at the onset of the season as they may not yet have gained the capacity for forward movement (Billard 1986; Mylonas et al. 2003). Following the onset of the spawning season, sperm quality in this experiment either increased continually until the end of the season or peaked in the middle, decreasing thereafter. This decrease in sperm quality towards the end of the spawning season for traits where negative quadratic relationships were found can likely be attributed to sperm ageing. In salmonids, spermatogenesis is a discontinuous process in which sperm is released from the sperm ducts over several months, ageing throughout the spawning period (Billard 1986). During this timeframe, declines in ATP levels (Dreanno et al. 1999), hormonal activity of the sperm duct (Koldras et al. 1996; Shangguan & Crim 1999) and seminal plasma contents (i.e. ions, proteins, antioxidants; Ciereszko & Dabrowski 1995; Hajirezaee et al. 2010) have been reported. These biochemical and physiological metrics have been linked to differences in sperm quality (Lahnsteiner et al. 1996).

In order to further understand mechanisms underlying seasonal changes in each of the sperm quality metrics, future work should investigate whether biochemical (i.e. ions, proteins, antioxidants) and physiological (i.e. ATP, hormonal activity) metrics in milt differ across the reproductive season as well as and whether these differences correlate which the observed differences in sperm quality demonstrated in lake trout. Future studies should also measure the most biologically relevant time frame to measure sperm quality in lake trout. This could be achieved through fertilization success experiments, where percent fertilization is measured for batches of eggs fertilized using sperm activated at different post activation times. Although studies in other salmonids have found that eggs are fertilized within 5 seconds of sperm activation (Hoysak & Liley, 2001), time to fertilization has yet to be determined in lake trout. Finally, it would be useful to study the effects of seasonality on sperm quality in a microenvironment that

more closely mimics that found in the wild. For example, female ovarian fluid, which is released along with eggs during a spawning event, has been shown to increase sperm velocity in a number of salmonids (eg. Rosengrave et al. 2009; Turner & Montgomerie 2002; Wojtczak et al. 2007). Future studies could look at the effects of seasonality on sperm quality by activating sperm with female ovarian fluid rather than water throughout the reproductive period.

Chapter Three

Using sperm obtained from the peak of the reproductive season, as determined in Chapter 2, I tested the hypothesis that inbreeding has detrimental effects on male sperm quality in lake trout by comparing sperm quality from highly inbred, moderately inbred and unrelated males. It has been previously demonstrated that mating between relatives can lead to significant reductions in sperm quality and consequently, fertility and reproductive success (Gomendio et al. 2000; Fritzsche et al. 2006). The effects of inbreeding on cryptic life history traits such as sperm quality have most often been demonstrated in mammals (Fitzpatrick & Evans 2009), while studies on fish are rare.

Overall, I found no significant differences in sperm quality between highly inbred (full sibling offspring), moderately inbred (maternal and paternal half sibling offspring) and unrelated offspring. I have proposed four possible explanations as to why inbreeding depression did not lead to reductions in sperm quality in a captive population of lake trout. First, it is possible that the life history of this species (large, long-lived, latematuring) and distribution (small, isolated freshwater lakes) led to purging of deleterious

recessive alleles via natural selection. In order to determine if purging occurred in our population of lake trout, an idea of ancestral inbreeding patterns in the wild as well as the strength of selection on detrimental alleles is necessary. Second, it is possible that inbreeding depression had no effect at the gamete level in our population of lake trout. Again, this explanation relies on the assumption that the wild ancestral population was inbred however, those individuals that were inbred would have expressed deleterious recessive alleles early in development, dying off before reaching sexual maturity. The remaining males would in theory be unaffected by further inbreeding depression and thus would not express any detrimental effects on sperm quality due to inbreeding. Third, a lack of inbreeding depression could be attributed to limiting our study to only first generation inbred males. Previous studies have shown that multiple generations of inbreeding in both wild and captive environments are required for the effects of inbreeding depression on sperm quality to take effect (Crnokrak & Roff 1999). The final explanation for a lack of inbreeding depression on sperm quality involves "soft" selection on reproductive traits due to captive conditions. Relaxation on the detrimental effects of inbreeding depression between captive and wild populations has been extensively demonstrated (Armbruster & Reed 2005; Crnokrak & Roff 1999). Harsh conditions in the wild often result in greater selective pressure on life history traits and therefore an increase in the effects of inbreeding depression (Crnokrak & Roff 1999; Joron & Brakefield 2003).

Future studies investigating inbreeding depression in lake trout should address these four factors that may explain the lack of observed inbreeding depression in sperm related traits. Understanding such mechanisms will aid in the development of future

inbreeding studies as well as provide insight into relative contributions of genetic versus environmental factors leading to inbreeding depression, or, a lack thereof in lake trout. Additionally, it would be useful to look at inbreeding depression at the level of reproductive success as it may be possible that although no difference in sperm quality traits were observed, inbred males may suffer from decreased fertilization success, as was found in the golden hamster (Fritzsche et al. 2006), where no apparent differences in sperm traits were observed between inbred and outbred males however, significant reductions in reproductive success were demonstrated.

Conclusion

In my thesis, I have determined that sperm quality in a captive population of lake trout peaks in the middle of the reproductive season, while remaining unaffected by inbreeding depression. These findings have implications for the aquaculture industry and provide insight into sperm quality of a captive population of lake trout, which, has yet to be explored. For example, based on an index of fertilization success as determined by sperm velocity in another salmonid species (Tuset et al. 2008), the seasonal differences in sperm velocity demonstrated in Chapter 2 would result in a 10% increase in fertilization success between the greatest (peak spawning season) and lowest recorded sperm velocities. This information is important for artificial breeding programs as well as estimation of a male's reproductive potential in the wild. In terms of inbreeding depression, our results are inconsistent relative to other taxa as demonstrated by comparing the coefficient of inbreeding depression, δ (Crnokrak & Roff 1999) for sperm

traits. For example, in terms of sperm motility, my results translate into an δ value of 0.01, while the average value determined in other studies is 0.26 (Barone et al. 1994; van Eldik et al. 2006; Wildt et al. 1987; see Chapter 1, Table 1.1). My findings suggest that inbreeding does not necessarily lead to inbreeding depression in captive salmonid populations, however other fitness traits such as fertilization success should be investigated in the future.

References

- Armbruster, P., Reed, D.H. (2005) Inbreeding depression in benign and stressful environments. *Heredity*, **95**, 235-242
- Babiak, I., Ottesen, O., Rudolfsen, G., Johnsen, S. (2006) Quantitative characteristics of Atlantic halibut, *Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L., semen throughout the reproductive season. *Theriogenology*, 65, 1587-1604
- Barone, M.A., Roelke, M.E., Howard, J., Brown, L.J., Anderson, A.E., Wildt, D.E.
 (1994) Reproductive characteristics of male Florida panthers: compartative studies from Florida, Texas, Colorado, Latin America, and North American zoos. *American Society of Mammalogists*, **75** 150-162
- Billard, R. (1986) Spermatogenesis and spermatology of some teleost fish species.*Reproduction Nutrition Development*, 26, 877-920
- Butts, I.A.E., Litvak, M.K., Trippel, E.A. (2010) Seasonal variations in seminal plasma and sperm characteristics of wild-caught and cultivated Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. *Theriogenology*, **73**, 873-885
- Casselman, S.J., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., Montgomerie, R. (2006) Sperm quality influences male fertilization success in walleye (*Sander vitreus*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **63**, 2119-2125
- Chemineau, P., Malpaux, B., Brillard, J.P., Fostier, A. (2007) Seasonality of reproduction and production in farm fishes, birds and mammals. *Animal*, **1**, 419-432

 Ciereszko, A., Liu, L., Dabrowski, K. (1996) Effects of season and dietary ascorbic acid on some biochemical characteristics of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
 Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, **15**, 1-10

Crnokrak, P., Roff, D.A. (1999) Inbreeding depression in the wild. Heredity, 83, 260-270

- Dreanno, C., Suquet, M., Fauvel, J., Le Coz, J.R., Dorange, G., Quemener, L., Billard, R. (1999) Effect of the ageing process on the quality of sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) semen. *Journal Of Applied Ichthyology*, **15**, 176-180
- Fritzsche, P., Neumann, K., Nasdal, K., Gattermann, R. (2006) Differences in reproductive success between laboratory and wild-derived golden hamster (*Mesocricetus auratus*) as a consequence of inbreeding. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 60, 220-226
- Gage, M.J.G., Macfarlane, C.P., Yeates, S., Ward, R.G., Searle, J.B., Parker, G.A. (2004)
 Spermatozoal traits and sperm competition in Atlantic salmon: Relative sperm
 velocity is the primary determinant of fertilization success. *Current Biology*, 14, 44-47
- Gomendio, M., Cassinello, J., Roldan, E.R.S. (2000) A comparative study of ejaculate traits in three endangered ungulates with different levels of inbreeding: fluctuating asymmetry as an indicator of reproductive and genetic stress. *Proceeding of the Royal Society of London*, Series B, **267**, 875-882
- Hajirezaee, S., Amiri, B.M., Mirvaghefi, A.R. (2010) Changes in sperm production, sperm motility, and composition of seminal fluid in Caspian brown trout, *Salmo*

trutta caspius, over the course of a spawning season. *Journal of Applied Aquaculture*, **22**, 157-170

- Hoysak, D.J., Liley, R.N. (2001) Fertilization dynamics in sockeye salmon and a comparison of sperm from alternative male phenotypes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 58, 1286-1300
- Joron, M., Brakefield, P.M. (2003) Captivity masks inbreeding effects on male mating success in butterflies. *Nature*, **424**, 191-194
- Koldras, M., Loir, M., Maisse, G., LeGac, F. (1996) Study of the composition of seminal fluid and of sperm motility along the genital tract, during a spawning season, in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquatic Living Resources*, **9**, 337-345
- Lahnsteiner, F., Berger, B., Weismann, T., Patzner, R.A. (1996) Motility of spermatozoa of *Alburnus alburnus* (Cyprinidae) and its relationship to seminal plasma composition and sperm metabolism. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, **15**, 167-179
- Lahnsteiner, F., Berger, B., Weismann, T., Patzner, R.A. (1998) Determination of semen quality of the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, by sperm motility, seminal plasma parameters, and spermatozoal metabolism. *Aquaculture*, **163**, 163-181
- Munkittrick, K. R., Moccia, R.D. (1987) Seasonal changes in the quality of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) semen: effect of a delay in stripping on spermatocrit, motility, volume and seminal plasma constituents. *Aquaculture*, **64**, 147-156
- Mylonas, C.C., Papadaki, M., Divanach, P. (2003) Seasonal changes in sperm production and quality in the red porgy *Pagrus pagrus* (L.). *Aquaculture Research*, **34**, 1161-1170

- Rosengrave, P., Taylor, H., Montgomerie, R., Mecalf, V., McBride, K., Gemmell, N.J.
 (2009) Chemical composition of seminal and ovarian fluids of Chinook salmon
 (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and their effects on sperm motility traits. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, Part A, **152**, 123-129
- Shangguan, B., Crim, L.W. (1999) Seasonal variations in sperm production and sperm quality in male winter flounder, *Pleuronectes americanus*: the effects of hypophysectomy, pituitary replacement therapy, and GnRH-A treatment. *Marine Biology*, **134**, 9-27
- Turner, E., Montgomerie, R. (2002) Ovarian fluid enhances sperm movement in arctic charr. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **60**, 1570-1579
- Tuset, V.M., Dietrich, G.J., Wojtczak, M., Słowińska, M., de Monserrat, J., Ciereszko, A.
 (2008) Relationships between morphology, motility and fertilization capacity in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) spermatozoa. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 24, 393-397
- van Eldik, P., van der Waaij, E.H., Ducro, B., Kooper, A.W., Stout, E.A.T.,
 Colenbrander, B. (2006) Possible negative effects of inbreeding on semen quality
 in Shetland pony stallions. *Theriogenology*, 65, 1159-1170
- Wildt, D.E., Bush, M., Goodrowe, K.L., Packer, C., Pusey, A.E., Brown, J.L., Joslin, P.,O'Brien, S.J. (1987) Reproductive and genetic consequences of founding isolated lion populations. *Nature*, **329**, 328-331
- Wojtczak, M., Dietrich, G.J., Slowinska, M., Dobosz, S., Kuzminski, H., Cieresko, A.
 (2007) Ovarian fluid pH enhances motility parameters of rainbow trout
 (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) spermatozoa. *Aquaculture*, **270**, 259-264

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME:	Katelynn Johnson
PLACE OF BIRTH:	Windsor, Ontario
DATE OF BIRTH:	1988
EDUCATION:	Sandwich West Public School LaSalle, Ontario 1993-2002
	Sandwich Secondary High School LaSalle, Ontario 2002-2006
	University of Windsor Windsor, Ontario 2006-2010 B.Sc. Honours Biological Sciences with Thesis
	University of Windsor Windsor, Ontario 2010-2012 M.Sc. Biological Sciences